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Vision
Statement

Our Company Goal

To prosper and grow through developing a portfolio of
complementary and successful business activities

Our Values

The beliefs and standards by which we will deliver our
Company Goal

* Improving profitability and having the drive to succeed
» An absolute commitment to safety and the envircnment
* Valuing customers as the hfeblood of our business

* Developing the potential of our employees in a stimulating
and enjoyable workplace

* Treating everyone with dignity and respect
* Being enthusiastic about doing things better
* Making a positive contribution to our community

* Having integnity and high standards in everything we do
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Summary of Results

IFRS basis UK GAAP basis
Group 5 Year Performance 2008 2007 2006 2005 2005 2004
Group turnover £'000 72,744 69,085 64,201 64,568 64,568 58,010
Profit and Loss Summary £'000
Trading activities
Technicat Fibre Products 1,426 2,053 777 521 522 506
Specialty Papers 1,281 1,435 {247 1,797 1,826 549
Converting 548 460 62 385 389 438
The Paper Mill Shop {358} (358} 241 370 381 257
Other Group expenses (147) (86} - - - -
2,750 3,504 833 3.063 3118 1,750
Director and employee bonuses {324) (433} - - - -
*On-going® trading operating profit 2,426 3.071 B33 3.083 3.118 1,750
Profii on sale of trade investment - - 116 - - -
Trading operating profit 2,426 3.07 949 3,063 3,118 1,750
Joint veniture 61) (85) (89) {114) (114) {93}
Other expenditure - - - (200) (200) (50)
Trading profit before interest 2,365 2976 860 2,749 2,804 1,607
Net interest (402) (438) (511} {357) (337) {355}
Trading profit before tax 1,963 2,538 349 2,392 2,487 1,252
{After future service pension contnbutions paid)
Net pension adjustments to
Operating profit 610) 610) (364) (423) {696} {467)
Net interest 227 179 {114) (330) - -
Net pension adjustment before tax (383) (431) (478) (753) (696) (467)
Overall Group after pension adjustments
QOperating profit 1,816 2,461 585 2,640 2,422 1,283
Joint venture (61) {95) (89) (114) {114) (93)
Other {expenditure)fincome - - - (200) {200) {50)
Protit before interest 1,755 2,366 498 2,326 2,108 1,140
Net Interest (175) (259} (625) (687} (337) (355)
Profit/{Loss) before tax 1,580 2,107 {129) 1,639 1,771 785
Earnings/{Losses) per Share 14 Op 16 2p {12p) 12 6p 13 8p 7 6p
Dividends per Share 7 3p 7 0p 41p 82p 82p 78p
Balance Sheet Summary £'000
Non-pension assets - excluding cash 45,616 45,758 46,668 47,005 46,155 45,758
Non-pensian liabilkties - excluding borrowings (12,640) (13,505) (11,8993} {11,524) {12,044) (11,184)
32976 32,253 34,675 35,481 34,111 34,575
Net pension (iabiities)/assets {1.299) {4,306) (7,221) (7.495) 831 {73)
31,677 27,947 27,454 27,986 34,942 34,502
Net borrowings {6,016) (5,294) {B.595) {8.350) {7.404) (7.427)
Equity shareholders' funds 25,661 22,653 18,859 19,636 27,538 27,075
Gearing % 23 23 46 43 27 27
Capital Expenditure £000 2,337 2,756 2,889 3,228 3,228 3,101

Following adoption of Regulation 1606/2002 by the European Pariament n July 2002 all EU hsted companies are requwed to report therr

consclidated financial statements under IFRS adopted {or use in the EU {“adopted IFRS") for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2005 Pnor to this peniod James Cropper PLC had previously reported s results under UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles ("UK GAAP") All references to "Net pension adjusiment” in the Profit and Loss Account refer to the net impact on the Profit
and Loss Account of the pension schemes operating costs and finance costs, as described n the I1AS 19 section of the Financial

Review
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Directors,
Bankers and
Advisers

Chairman

James A Cropper, BA, FCA - Born 1938 -
15 ihe great, great grandson of the founder
He joined the Company in 1966 He became
Non-Execuirve Chairman in 2001 He s also
Lorg-Lieutenant of Cumbna

Deputy Chairman

Mark Cropper, MA - Born in 1974

He joined the Board in 2006 and became
Deputy Chairman on 24th Aprl 2008 Mark
Cropper I1s the sidh generation of the
Cropper family 10 be nvolved in the
business He s a FSA authonsed corparate
finance adwviser for Turquoise International,
which specialises in energy and
environmental nvestment He previously
worked at Johnsen Matthey PLC as a fuel
cetl analyst He 1s a dwector of Ellergreen
Limited and Ellergreen Hydro Limited

Executive Directors

Chief Executive

Managing Director, James Cropper
Speciality Papers Limited

Managing Director, The Paper Mill Shop
Company Limited

Alun | Lewis, BSc, MBA - Born 1957

He joined the Group 1in 1987 from Wiggins
Teape Limited and the Board in Aprit 1998,
becoming Chief Executive in January 2001

Group Finance Director

John M Denman, BSc, FCA - Born 1952
He joined the Group and the Board in 1995
from Cable & Wireless PLC He s
responsible for Finance, Purchasing,
Information Systems and Project
Management He s also a trustee of the
James Cropper PLC Pension Scheme,
Treasurer of the Confederation of Paper
Industries Limited and a director of the Paper
Federation of Great Britain Limited

Sales and Marketing Director, James
Cropper Speciality Papers Limited
Nigel A Read, BA - Born 1954 He joned
the Group in 1981 from Robert Fletcher &
Sons Limited and the Board in 1998 He s
also a trusiee of the James Cropper PLC
Pension Scheme

Operations Director, James Cropper
Speciality Papers Limited

Patrick J Willink, BSc, MBA - Born 1964 —
I1s also refated to the founder He joined the
Group 1n 1990 from Aquascutum Limited and
the Board in 1888

Managing Director, Technical Fibre
Products Limited

George T Quayle, BSc, C Chem, MRSC -
Born 1953 He joined the Group in 1992
from Whatman PLC and the Board in 1938

Non-Executive Directors

John R Sclater, MA MBA — Bon 1940

He joned the Board in 1872 He s
Charman of Graphite Enterpnise Trust PLC,
Argent Group (Europe) Limited and The
Biotech Growth Trust PLC  He was formerty
Charrman of Nordic Bank PLC, Guinness
Mahon & Co Limned, Hill Samuel Bank
Limited, Bensford International PLC, The
Union Discount Company of London PLC
and various other companies He was also
the First Church Estates Commissioner, a
member of the Councit of the Duchy of
Lancaster and a Trustee of The Grosvenor
Estaie John Sclater retires from the Board at
the AGM to be held on 30th July 2008
Peter L Herring, BSc {(Econ) - Born 1940
He ioined the Board i 1997 He 1s a director
of Brenmatch Limited and was previously a
director of BPB PLC

Dawvid R Wilks, LLB {(Hons) — Born 1954
He joned the Board in Apri 2004 Heisa
Birector of Wilks & Partners, the
management constltancy he founded in
2001 Prior 1o this, he had extensive
manufactunng operations expenence with
H J Heamnz and United Biscunts and was a
director of ER Consultants

Company Secretary

Dawvid R Carey, FCCA ~ Born 1947

He joined the Group i 1974 as Chief
Accountant He became Company Secretary
n 1996

BS EN |SO 9001 2000
FM 10048

OHSAS 18004 1999
OHS 83474

Bankers

Barclays Bank PLC

Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander Limited
The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC
HSBC Bank PLC

Fortis Bank SA/NV

independent Auditors
KPMG Audit Ple, Preston

Tax Advisors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLE
Newcastle upon Tyne

Stockbrokers
Brewin Dolphin Securities, Leeds

Corporate Lawyers
Dickinson Dees, Newcastle upon Tyne

Registrars
Capita Registrars, Huddersfield

Public Relations
Citigate Oewe Rogerson, Birmingham

Pension Advisors
Waison Wyati, Manchester

James Cropper PLC
Burneside Mills, Kendal, Cumbria
LA 6PZ, England

Telephone 01539 722002
Fax 01539 722001

emall info@cropper com
website www cropper com
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Chairman’s
Review

The Group recorded a
profit before tax of
£1,580,000 for the year
(a profit of £1,963,000
prior to net IFRS pension
adjustments). This
compares with a profit
before tax of £2,107,000
in 2007 (a profit of
£2,538,000 prior to net
IFRS pension
adjustments). Turnover
was up 5% to
£72,744,000.

Although sales growth was sustaned across all four subsidianes duning the year,
maintaining margins proved to be difficult, especially in our core paper-making bustness,
which posted a good result agamnst a background of rapidly escalaing energy and pulp
costs The overall mpact on the Group of currency exchange rate movernents was broadly
neutral Gearng remaned low ai 23%, in line with last year

Diwvidends
The Board 1s proposing a final dvidend payment of 5 1p, making a tota! dividend for the full
year of 7 3p compared 1o 7 0p i 2007, an overall increase of 4 3% on the previous year

AlM

At an Extracrdinary General Meeting held on 1st August 2007 shareholders agreed to move
the trading of the Company’s 1ssued share capital from the Official List of the UK Listing
Authonity to the Alternative Investment Market ("AIM”) of the London Stock Exchange plc
The transter to AIM duly took place on 31st August 2007

Technical Fibre Products (“TFP")

TFP's gperating profit for the year was £1,428,000 compared 1o £2,053.000 1n 2007, with
turnover improving overall by 12% on the previous year to £10,125,000 TFP's performance
i 2007 was exceptional by any measure being driven by significant sates of very high
margm product in the final quarter of that year Prolitin 2008 was 83% higher than the level
achieved In 2006, despite further weakening of the LSS and the acquisiion of two new US
based manulaclunng companies

Sales into the North American market grew by 7% :n €5terling terms and by 13% 1In US$
terms Growth 1n demand of engineered compaosite matenals was the pnme drivers behind
this Increase Al the average exchange rate for the year, sales io the North Amencan market
represented approximately 46% of TFP's turnover In £Sterling terms  Safes io “Rest of the
World" were ahead by 17%, with sales of composite and insulating matenals leading the
way Thare was significant grewth in turnover from TFP's new facility n Cheshirg This
facility, which commenced operations in the final quarter of the previous financial year, 1s
dedicated to convering insulating materiels for TFP's main customer in this market
Although margins for this actiwiy are less than TFP's mainstream business, TFP’s position
in the European thermat insulation market has been sirengthened as a consequence

Sales ¢f TFP composite materals containing metal-coated carbon fibres have grown
strangly in recent years, particutarly into the US electronic and aerospace industries These
fibres were suppled by Diamend Fiber Composites Inc and Electro Fiber Technologies LLC
("EFT"), the latier being the |jont-venture company i which TFP had a 50% share At the
end of June 2007 TFP purchased the business assets of Diamond Fiber Composites Inc
and acquired complete control of EFT The combined purchase consideraiion was
approximaiely £0 5 milion These acquismons provide TFRP with control of quahty, product
development and securty of supply TFP will thus be able 1o service the technically
demanding applications that contain these fibres with greater confidence at the increased
levels of turnover expected in future years However, it is anticipated that EFT's losses will
continise &t a simitar level in the medium term  From July 2007 these losses have been fully
borne by TFP EFT fibres could potentially provide a key junctional element relating to a
major US based aerospace development

James Cropper Speciality Papers (“Speciality Papers™}

Specrality Papers reported an operating profit of £1,281,000 aganst £1,435,000 in the
previous year Tumnaver was £48 342,000, up 5% with volume growing by 4% over the year
Despite thus sigruficant growth in sales profitability was adversely affected by upward
pressure from pulp and energy costs

Northern Bleached Softwood Kraft ("NBSK™) pulp, the market benchmark priced n US$s,
opened the financial year at US$760 per tonne and increased progressively in price to
LJSS880 per tonne by the end of the financial year, up 16% over the year The € price of
hardwoods increased by 5% but given the 14% strengthening of the € against £Sterling 0
the period the mpact was much more signuficant Overall pulp costs in the year were £1 3m
hugher than in the previous 12 months

Although the average cost of natural gas in the first-half was 24p/therm, against 34p/therm
in the comparable period, costs in the second-half averaged 50p/therm against 28p/therm
in the previous year Cverall the cost of gas was up 26% for the iull year at £2 8m, some
£0 6m higher

Gven the competiive nature of both UK and export markets it was not possible to fully
recover these dramaiic cost escalaiions through increased selling pnces within the time
span of the financial year Dunng the year further signdicant progress was made with regard
to the reduction of the cost base through greater energy efficiency, improved productivity
and lower wastage
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James Cropper pictured with John Sclat

James Cropper Converting (“Converting™)
Converiing's operating profit was £548,000
compared 1o £460,000 1n the previous year,
with turnaver increasing by 6% to £11,856,000

Sales of US$ denominated products grew by
14% 1n £Sterling terms and by 21% in US$
terms in the year and represented 19% of
turnover In £8terling terms  The dechine in the
value of the US$ over the year had a
significant impact on the value of Converting's
margins The continuing weakness of the USE
outweighed the cost benefits derved from the
upgraded laminatng ine commissioned In the
previous year

The Paper Mill Shop (“TPMS™)

Turnover was £6,202,000, up 3% on the
previous year However margin was lower
reflecting a change in the product mix As a
consequence the operating loss was in-kne
with the previous year at £358,000

Depreciat.on of capital expendrture 1s
accelerated over four years This has led to
the resulting depreciation charge being a

significant proportion of TPMS's operating loss

reflecting the number of store openings n
recent years As there were no new store

openings In the peniod cash out flow was

relatively low

Pensions and International Accounting
Standard 19 (“IAS 19")

The Group operates two funded pension
schemes providing defined beneiits for the
majonty of its {ull tme employees In order to
comply with the strictures of I1AS 19 a discount
rate of 6 55% has had to be used to reflect the
current high rate ¢of return on corporate bonds
resulting from the dramatic fall in the value of
corporate bonds as a conseguence of the
“credit crunch™ This aberration has produced
IAS 19 deficits for both Schemes smaller in
companson with the concurrent "on-going”
valuations, which are based upon more
realistic projections of long-term returns

The {AS 19 results are thus misleading

Left to right, Bill Thomson, David Carey, James Cropper, lan Valentine and Tony Hal

People

| am pleased to report the Board appomnted my son Mark as Deputy Chaiman of

James Cropper PLC on 24th Apnl 2008 Mark I1s the swth generation of the Cropper family !
to be involved in the business  He joined the Board in 2006

John Sclater will retire from the Board at the AGM after 36 years as a Non-executive
Director His membership and commitment to the Board over so many years with his
knowledge and wise advice from his banking experience and charrmanship of major Bntish
companies has been invaluable to the Group | amin particular indebied to him as
Chairman over the same penod for his help and support In ensuring that we have remanad
a strong and independent company { would like to take this opportunity {0 offer John our
grateful thanks for his exceptionally long and loyal service

The past financial year marked the retirement of four long-serving senior managers
Dawid Carey (Chief Accountant), lan Valentine (Papermaking Cperations Manager),

Bilt Thomson (Head of Information Systems)} and Tony Hzall {Group Purchasing Manager)
Together therr service totalled 121 years | am extremely grateful to them for therr
contribution 1o James Cropper PLC over this time

During the year { was pleased 10 welcome to the Group Steve Oxley (as Papermaking
Operations Manager), Smon Johnston (as Group Purchasing Manager), Deborah Buch (as
Senior HR Adwiser), Liam Convery (as TFP Operations Manager) and Chris Newton (as
Head of information Systems) | wish them well in therr careers with us

Left to night, Chris Newlon, Steve Oxley, Deborah Birch, James Cropper,
Simon Johnston and Liam Convery




Chairman’s

Review
continued

Safety

There were 13 Lost Time Acaidents (“LTAs') in the past financial year compared to 12 in the
previous year This was disapponting However there was a dramatic improvement in the
Severty Rate This measures the extent of injury and hence business disruption caused by
poor salety performance A new Safety Bonus Scherme has been introduced, which if
successful wilt more than offset its extra cost by reducing the overall cost of the iImpact on
the Group of time lost caused by injuries to our employees

Outlook
The outlook for TFP's profit growth 1s encouraging Its new facilities in Cheshire and the USA
strengthen its long-term position In specialised non-woven insulating and compoesite markets

Given the uncertainties susrounding the general economic downturn and continued high
energy and pulp costs, the outlook for Speciality Papers 1s difficult to project 1t should
therefore be anticipated that the subsidiary's profitability in the current financial year could be
significantly less than that achieved in the year ended 29th March 2008

As regards The Paper Mill Shop it is intended to exit a small number of under performing
stores as therr leases expire unless 1t IS more economic to do so earher Other cost
rationalisation actions and aspects of TPMS's recovery plan are also being progressed

The overall mpact on the Group of fluctuating currency exchange rates will rermain broadly
neutral as a consequence of our internal currency matching policy

Gearning at the year-end was low and working capital remains closely controlled [nvestment
aver the coming year will continue to be focused on energy and operating efficiencies

In the medium to long term, the Board 1s conficent In the Group's ability to explot its
competitive positions In its respective niches through the excellence of its products and
customer service  This confidence 1$ demonstrated by the continued increase i the
dmdend Nonetheless, in light of the current adverse market conditons and high energy and
pulp costs, the Board believes 1t 1s realistic to expect a challenging trading penod over the
short term

o o

James Cropper

Chairman
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Financial
Revelw

Overall performance

* "On-going” trading operating profit was
£2,426,000 compared i0 £3,071 000 in
the previous year

+ Net trading interest charges for the year
were £402,000 against £438,000
previously

= Trading profit before tax was £1,563,000
compared to £2,638,000 in 2007

+ The net adverse IFRAS pension adjustment
was £383,000 compared {0 a net adverse
adjustment in the previous year of
£431,000

* The Group recorded an overall profit
before tax of £1,580,000 for the year
This compares with £2,107,000 for the
previous year

+ A tax charge of £390,000 arose with
respect to the year This compnsed a
current tax charge of £349,000 and a
deferred tax charge of £41,000

* The Profit after Tax was therefore reduced
to £1,109,000 compared o £1,361,000 in
the previous year

= Basic and diluted earnings per share
were 14 @ pence for the year compared
to 16 2 pence n 2007

+ Shareholders' funds at the year-end were
£25,661,000, with net debt of £6,016,000,
resulting 1n a gearing ratio of 23%

Trading Profit and Loss Account

Group turnover was £72,744,000 compared
to £89,085,000 last year up 5% Overall
Group raw maternal and consumable costs,
excluding energy, were £32,703,000 up 7%
on last year The cost of energy
consumption increased over the previous
year by £698,000 1o £3,531,000, up 25%

TFP's operaling profit reflected a more
‘histoncal” distnbution of preduct mix and
thus sales margin compared to the
previous year Profit in 2008 was 83%
higher than the level achieved in 2008,
despite further weakening of the US$ and
the acquisition of two new US based
manufactuning companies Overall TFP's
twrnover was up 12% Sales into the North
Amenican markes grew by 7% n £Sterling
terms and by 13% in US$ terms

2008 2007 Change Change
£'000 £000 £'000s %
Trading Profit and Loss Account
Turnover
Technicat Fibre Products 10,125 9,003 1122 12
Speciality Papers 48,342 45967 2,375 5
Converting 11,856 11,167 699 ]
The Paper Mill Shop 6,202 6,038 164 3
76,525 72,185 4,360 6
Less inter-segmental sales (3,781) (3,080) {701) 23
72,744 69,085 3,658 5
Expenses
Raw matenals and consumables used (32,703)  (30,425) (2.278) 7
Energy costs (3,531) (2.833) (698) 25
Employee benefit costs* (17,875) (16,659) (1.018) 6
Depreeiaticn and amortisation (3,280) (3,315) 35 (1)
Cther expenses (13,498) (12890) (608) 5
Other income and changes in inventory 369 108 261 242
(70,318)  {66,014) (4,304) 7
“On-going" trading operating profit/{loss)* 2,426 3,071 (845) (21)
(*Before net pension adjusiments)
Profit and Loss Summary
Trading activities
Technicat Fibre Products 1,426 2,053 {627)
Speciality Papers 1,281 1,435 {154)
Cornwverting 548 460 88
The Paper Mill Shop (358) {358) -
Other Group expenses (147) (86) (81
2,750 3,504 {754)
Drirector and employee bonuses (324) {433) 109
Trading operating profit 2,426 3,071 (B45)
Jont Veniure 61) (95) 34
Trading profit before interest 2,365 2,976 (611)
Net interest (402) (438) 36
Trading profit before tax 1,963 2,538 {575)
(ARer future service penston contributions paid)
Net pension adjustments
Group operating profit 610) (610} -
Net interest 227 179 48
Net pension adjustment before tax (383) {431) 48
Overall Group after pension adjustments
Profit before interest 1,755 2,366 611)
Net interest (175) (259) 84
Profit before tax 1,580 2,107 {527)
Balance Sheet Summary
Non-pension Assets - excl Cash 45,616 45,758 (142)
Non-pension Liabiites - excl Borrowings (12,640) (13,505) 865
32,976 32,253 723
Net pension liabimes {1,299) (4,306) 3,008
31,677 27947 3,731
Net Barrowings (6,018) (5.254) (722)
Equity shareholders’ funds 25,661 22,653 3,009
Geanng % 23 23




Financial

Reveiw
continued

At the average exchange rate for the year, sales to the North
American market represented approximalely 46% of TFP's turnover
in £Sterting terms Sales to "Rest of the World" were ahead by 17%
Output from TFP's new converting facility in Cheshire grew
significantly Margins from this actwvity are less than TFP's
mainstream business

Despie its 5% growth In turnover Speciality Papers' profitabilty was
adversely affected by upward pressure from pulp and energy costs
Norhemn Bleached Softwood Kraft (“NBSK") pulp, the market
benchmark priced in US$s, opened the financial year at US$760
per tonne and increased progressively in price io US$880 per tonne
by the end of the financial year, up 16% over the year The € pnce
of hardwoods increased by 5% but given the 14% strengthening of
the € against £Sterkng n the perted the impact was much more
significant Oversall pulp costs 11 the year were £1 3m higher than in
the previous 12 months Although the average cost of natural gas In
the first-half was 24p/therm, against 34p/thesm 10 the comparable
period, costs in the second-half averaged 50p/therm against
28p/therm in the previous year Overall the cost of gas was up 26%
for the full year at £2 8m, some £0 6m higher

Converting's turnover increased by 6% Sales of US$ denominated
products grew by 14% in £Sterling terms and by 21% in USS terms
in the year and represented 18% of turnover in £Sterlng terms The
confinuing weakness of the USS outweighed the cost benefits
derved from the upgraded taminating kne commussionad in the
previous year

Although sales by The Paper Mill Shop were up 3%, margin was
lower refiecting a change in the product mix As there were no new
store openings in the penod cash out flow was relatively low Prior
to net [FRS pension adjustments empioyment costs increased by
6% to £17,675,000 compared io £16,659,000 1n the previous year
The average number of people employed increased from 605 10
626 over the year For greater analysis see Table F

Other external charges increased from £12,890,000 to £13,498.000,
up £608,000 The increase was mainly associated with the
operating costs of TFP s new facilities in Cheshire and the USA

Balance Sheet

Shareholders' Funds inereased by £3,009,000 from £22,653 000 at
the previous year-end to £25,661,000 as at 20th March 2008 as a
consequence of the profit for the year of £1,190,000 and actuaral
gains (net of deferred tax) of £2,698,000, offset by dvidends paid
during the year of £618,000 and the purchase of own shares at a
cost of £368,000

Capital expenditure was £2,337,000, with the major investment
being devoted to effluent treatment and the acquisthion of TFP's
new US subsidiary companies -

Currency Index

90

a0 — - -
5401 1001 02 1002 (403 1007 4404 1004 D405 1005 G406 D06 0407 3007 0408

. — J— A — e —

Pulp Index in Denominated Currencies

30
Softwoods == Sfonne = Eflonne  Hardwoods = Gaonne = E£Acnne
140 S

130

50 - -
G101 1001 0402 1302 0403 1603 0304 1004 G405 (D05 0306 (008 0407 1007 0408

Gas Cost (pence per therm)
— 200N04 200405 o 2005706 s 2006/07 e 200708

=] epapmae s L i aipiamenatin ininimitn it st s

Apr May  Jue  Jd .0 Sep et Ry Dec fan Fry  Ma

Net current assets increased by £15,000 over the year from
£14,624,000 to £14,639,000, with working capital (stocks, debtors, net
of creditors) increasing by £1,624,000 and net cash decreasing by

£1 609,000 Working capital movements included a £3,274,000
Increase in stocks, a £420,000 decrease in irade and other creditors
and a £300,000 decrease in current tax hatilies, offset by a £366,000
decrease in trade and other debtors

Over the year bank loans faling due afier more than a year fell by
£887,000 from £6,650,00C to £5,763.000

Cash Flow
Summarised cash flow 15 shown in Table A

Net cash inflow from operatng actmties i the year was after deducting
past service pension deficit payments of £876,000

Net cash outflow from investing actmvties In the year includes capital
expenditure totaling £2,337,000 ofiset by £196,000 recenved from the
sale of assets

Total cash and borrowing changes over the year and faciliies available
are shown in Table B
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Foreign Currency

The majority of exports into continental
Europe are nvorced n €8 €3 are used to
purchase € pnced pulp and other raw
matenals sourced from Europe in €s
Simularly, export sales outside Europe are
invorced in US$ and the recaipts fund the
purchase of USS priced pulp  These steps
reduce exposure to foreign currency rate
fluctuatons  The situaticn 1s monitored to
ensure that whenever possible currency
receipis and payments are matched
Table C illustrates the Group's currency
management process in practice,
companng the opening and closing
exchange rates for the financial year

Converting and TFP generated surplus US3s
dunng the year, which, as a consequence of
the weakened USS had a detnmental impact
on dvisional profitabity  Specialty Papers
absorbed these US$ funds  The € surplus
pracipally arose in Speciality Papers
Potential foreign currency surpluses or
deficits are deait with by a combination of
foreign currency forward selling and forward
purchasing contracts

During the year a loan of US$2,500,000 was
drawn down by TFP to counter-balance the
value of TFP's net assets denominated in
US$s, thus creating a currency hedge on
TFP's Balance Sheet

Pensions

The Group operates two funded pension
schemes providing defined benelits for the
majonty of its full tirme employees ncluding
Executive Diregtors Membership of the
Schemes has been closed 10 new
members for a number of years in order to
contain the Group’s exposure {0 NsINg
pension ¢osts Since 2001 all new
employees have been able to join a defined
contribution Group Personal Pension Plan
The Group exposure 1o employee's GPP
ptans 15 imited to a fixed percentage of
contraciual pay The latest actuanal *on-
going” valuations of the James Cropper
PLC Pension Scheme (the “Stafi Scheme™)
and the James Cropper PLC Works
Penston Plan {the “Works Scheme™} were
conducted as at Apnt 2008 The results of
the valuations are shown in Table D

The dual discount rate approach effectvely
“books upfront” the higher expected equity
returns by reducing the habiliies and
showing a smaller geficit than the
corporate/government bond approach,
which assumed that the Schemes'
combined investment portfolio consists of
50% corporate bonds and 50% government
bonds

Table A 2008 2007 Change
Cash Flow £'000 £'000 £000s
Net cash inflow from operating acimhes 2,433 4,656 {2,223)
Net cash outflow from investing acinviies (2.559) {1,152) {1,407)
(126) 3.504 {3.630)
Net cash flow from financing actmties {1,687) (1.536) {151)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents {1,813) 1,968 (3.781)
Cpening cash and cash equivalents 3,730 1,762 1,968
Closing cash and cash equivalents 1,917 3,730 (1,813)
Table B 2008 2007 Change
Net debt £'000 £'000 £'000s
Cash and cash equvalents 1.917 3,730 (1,813)
Borrowings repayable within one year 2,170) {2,374) 204
Net cash (253) 1,356 {1,609)
Borrowings non-cureent (5,763) (6,650) 887
Net debt (6,016) (5,294) (722)
Facilities
Borrowings repayable within one year 2,170 2374 (204}
Borrowings non-current 5,763 6,650 {887)
Facilities drawn down 7,933 9,024 (1,.091)
Undrawn faciities 3453 3,455 (2
Facihities 11,386 12,479 {1,093)
Funds available
Cash and cash equivalents 1817 3.730 (1,813}
Undrawn facilities 3,453 3,455 2}
Funds available at year end 5,370 7,185 (1,815)
Borrowings repayable within one year {2170 {2.374) 204
Funds available in excess of one year 3,200 4,811 (1,611
Table C
Group Currency Management uss €
Opening rate Aprl 2007 v £ 192 147
Closing rate March 2008 v £ 199 126
Exchange rate movernent % 3) 14
Strengthen/(Weaken) v £
Currency transaclions in year
Sales receipts '000 19,120 17,026
Purchase payments ‘000 (21,350) (16,172)
Currency surplus/(deficit) ‘000 {2,230) 854
£ @ Opening raie £000 {1,158) 583
£ @ Closing rate £000 (1.123) 680
Sterling gamn/{loss) £000 35 97
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Financial
Revew

continued

The dual discount rate approach may be
considered inappropnate, as the higher
return may not ultimately be reahsed and 1t
could be taken to imply that the accrued
liatnlities are changing, when actually it s
onty the split between the investment returns
and conmbutions used 10 fund them that s
changing The difference betwgen the two
“‘on-going” dehes of £12m (e £14 8m
minus £2 9m) 1s essentially, the extra return
of £12m expected to be covered by higher
investrment returns relaiing to higher nsk
equity weighted assets compared with
corporate and govemment bonds Thus o the
trustees of the two schemes were {0 transier
the existing Schemes' assets comprnsing
higher nsk investments into holdings of 50%
corporate bonds and 50% government
bonds a combined ceiicit of £14 Sm would
matgrialise

The Company has been paying deficit
coninbutions of £876,000 p a with the aim of
removing the combined deficit in accordance
with the agreed Schedules of Contnbutions
This tota! consists of £420,000 p a n respect
of the Staff Scheme and £456,000 p a for
the Works Scheme It 1s the intention ¢f the
Board 10 eliminate the deficits within a penod
of ten years The Company also pays
contnbutions 1N respect of future service
benefits (in addition 1o the employees’ awn
contnbutions} of 15 0% of contractual pay for
the Staff Scheme and 10 2% for the Works
Scheme

The Buy-out vatuation gives an indication of
a scheme's ability to secure members'
benefits accrued 10 the valuation date by
purchase of immediate and deferred
annuities with an insurance company

Its purpose 1s two fold  First it sets out the
position were the scheme to wind up without
recovery of any further assets to assist the
funding and withoui reliance on the Pension
Protection Fund  Second the deficit shown
on this basis equates to the debt on the
employer that would apply if the scheme
were 1o be wound up

Table D
Actuanal Pension Valuations
Basis On-going On-going Buy-out
Dual- 50 50
Discount Corp/
Equity/ Govern
Bonds Bonds
Discount rate pre-retirement 7 65% 570%
Biscount rate post-retirement 570% 570%
£'000 £'000 £'000
Staff Scheme as at 1 Apnl 2008
Assets 26,873 26,873 26,873
Liabifities (29,443) (34,630) {42,049)
Deficit (2.570) (7.757) {15,176)
Funding level - % 91 78 64
Works Scheme as at 5 April 2008
Assets 30,141 30,141 30,141
Labilities (30,401) (37,236) {62,828)
Deficit (260) (7.095)  {32,687)
Funding level - % 89 81 48
Combwmed Deficit {2,830) (14,852) (47,863)

Equally, it 1s the basis for recovery of debts aganst employers who cease to participate in the
scheme The combined deficit on the buy-out basis 15 approximately £48m

1AS 19

IAS 18 requires that actuanes calculate the assets and liabilities of companies’ pension
schemes based on values and interest rates at ther annual balance sheet date  Surpluses
or deficits revealed by these valuations are included on the sponsonng company’s batance
sheets, either directly against Reserves or via the Profit and Loss Account Under IAS 19
pension scheme liabiiies are measured on an aciuarial basis using the projecied unit
method (This 1s the same methed as used for the "on-going” valuation of the Group's
schemnes) Pension habiliies are discounted at the current rate of return on an AA rated
quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and ierm The pension scheme assets are
measured at far value at the Balance Sheet date The net of these two figures gives the
scheme surplus or deficit As market values of the scheme assets and the discount factors
applied to the scherne liabiities will fuctuaie, this method of valuation will often lead to large
vanations n the ‘pension balance™ year on year An “on-going” valuation takes account of
the projected growth in the pension schemes’ assels by asset type over the projected life of
the scheme

The assumptions used by the Actuaries for therr 1AS 19 valuations are likely 1o be very different
from those that they used with regard to ther “on-gong” valuations

IAS 19 regards a sponsonng company and its pension schemes as a single accounting entity
rather than iwo or more separate legal entties The actuanal valuation 1s the starting paint for
the creation of the IAS 18 accounting entity The valuation determines the net position of a
pension scheme, 1 e the difference between s assets and kabiliies On the introduction of 1AS
19 the net posiion, surplus or defictt, 1s brought onto the sponsonng company’s Balance Sheset
such that Reserves are immediately adjusted by the net pesition reduced by deferred tax This
obwiously results In either an increase or decrease In the net asset value of the sponsonng

compary
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Upon valuation at subsequent year-ends the
movement In value from the previous
valuation 1s expressed n the {ollowing
component parts
Profit and Loss Account
Operating costs
+ Current service charge, being the cost of
benefits earmed i the current penod shown
net of employees’ contributions
Past service costs, being the costs of
penefit improvements
» Curtailment and settlement costs
Finance costs, being the nat of
Expected return on pension scheme assets
Interest cost on the accrued pension
scheme labilities

Statement of Total Recognised Gamns and

Losses

- Actuanal gains and losses ansing from
vanances against previous actuanal
assumptions

The above items are ofiset in the year-to-
year movement by actual contributions paid
by the emgloyer in the penod

Table E shows the results of the 145 18
valuations

The corporate bond based method would
typically result In a bigger headling deficit
due to the corporate bond yield at the
valuation date being significantly lower than
the proposed assumption for expected
return on equities under a dual discount rate
approach However the value of AA
corporate bonds have dramatically fallen as
a conseguence of tha “credit crunch”,
resulting In abnormally high current rates of
return on corporate bond at the Balance
Sheet date In order to comply with the
strictures of IAS 19 a discount rate of & 55%
has had to be used to reflect the current
high rate of return on corporate bonds This
aberration has produced IAS 19 deficits for
both Schemes smaller 1n companson with
the concurrent “cn-going’ valuations, which
are based upon more realistic projections of
long-ierm returns The AS 19 results are
thus misleading

Actual future service pension contributions
paid in the penod by the Group to its two
final salary schemes n accordance with the
actuaries’ recommendations, resulting from
ther fatest “on-going” valuations, were
£834,000 Under IAS 19 the charge aganst
profit in the year was £1,544,000 This sum
included the PPF Levy charge of £130,000
relating to the Works Scheme and a
balancing charge of £480,000 being the
excess required by IAS 19 over and above
the future service centributions that were
actually required by the “on-going”
valuations

Table F analyses employment costs charged
against Operating Profit

Table & Staff Works Total Total
2008 2008 2008 2007
I1AS19 DEFICIT £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Current Service Charge (483} (1.061) {1,544} (1,598)
Future service contributions pad 447 487 934 988
Net impact on Operating Profit (36) (574) {610) (610)
Finance costs 200 27 227 179
Net impact on Profit and Loss Account 164 (547) {383) {431)
Past service deficit contnbutions paid 420 456 876 838
Actuariat gains 688 3,167 3855 3758
Opening deficit {1,283) (4 869) {6,152} {10,315)
Closing deficit {11) 1,783)  (1,804) (6,152}
Deferred Taxation 3 502 505 1,845
Net deficit (8) (1,291) (1,289) (4,308}
Liabilties {29,033) (31,302) (60,335) (66,733)
Assets 29,022 29,508 58,531 60,581
Closing deficit (11) (1,793) (1,804) {6,152}
Assets
Equities 15,926 19,484 35410 38,386
Bonds 10483 8,366 18,859 18,138
Property - 187 187 270
Annuities 2,043 - 2,043 1,880
Cash 560 1,472 2,032 1897
29,022 29,509 58,531 60,581
Asset - %
Equities 55 66 61 83
Bonds 36 28 32 30
Property - 1 - -
Annuities 7 - 4 3
Cash 5 3
100 100 100 100
Table F
Total adjusted employment costs 2008 2007 Change
£'000 £'000 £'000s
Wages and salares 15,083 13,989 1 064
Director and employee bonuses 324 433 (109)
Social secunity costs 1,367 1,244 123
Future service pension contributions paid 934 ass (54)
Other pension costs 347 292 85
Total employment costs 18,025 16,946 1,079
Own labour capitalised {350) (287) (63)
Chargeable against Trading Operating Profit 17,675 16,659 1,016
Wages and salanes 15,053 13,989 1,084
Director and employee bonuses 324 433 (109)
Social secunty costs 1,367 1,244 123
Current service penston charge (IAS 19) 1,544 1,588 (54)
Other pension costs 347 292 55
Total employment costs 18,635 17,556 1,079
Own tabour capitalised (35Q) (287) (83)
Chargeable against Group Operating Profit 18,285 17,269 1018
Difference being
Net IAS 19 pension adjustment against
operating profit 610 610
Average monthly number of employees 626 605 21

13




Business Review

Te

chnical

Fibre Products

T

FP’s third consecutive
year of double-digit

revenue growth was as a

result of strong global

demand for composite

materals plus the full

year's impact of our new
business activity relating to
the conversion of high

14

temperaiure insulation
matenals

Turnover at £10,125,000 represented an increase of 12% on the back of an exceptionat
34% increment in the previocus year Despite further weakening of the US$ sales to the
North Amercan marke! increased by 7% in £Sterlng terms with sales 1o 'Rest of the World'
necreasing by 17%

Notwithstanding the adverse mpact of the unfavourable $US exchange rate and the
increased cosis due 10 the integration of new USA based subsidiaries and operations at
Crewe, the total TFP busingss delivered an operating profit of £1,425,000 Although this
was 31% below last year's exceptional resuit, it was 83% up on 2006

Growth 1in North Amenca was again driven by techmically advanced matenals used in
aerospace, consumer electronics and fire doors Matenals for wind energy, passive fire
protection of buldings and thermal insulztion applications were In increasing demand
throughoui the “Rest of the World" Throughout the latter half of the year we also
experenced increased demand for carbon fibre matenals destined for fuel cell
developments and commerciat applications

At the end of Juneg 2007 we furthered our strategy of securng a strong position in the
development and supply of highly conductive maternials through a £6 5M acquisition of
both USA based metal-coated fibre manufactures, Electro Fiber Technologies and
Diamond Fiber Composites Products utilising the fundamental charactensucs of these
fiores have been a major coniributor ic growth over the past few years and will continue to
underpin a sigruficant part of future growth plans in agrospace, electronics, medical
equipment and defence markets

A robust pipeline of customer sponsored product developments and full nvolvement In
four Technology Strategy Boards (ex HMG DTI) sponscred collaborative research projects,
places the business in a strong position to deliver continued growth in both the near and
long term

Technical Fibre Products Limited
Sates & Marketing, Manutacturing and R&0
Burneside and Crewe, UK

Tech Fiber inc

US holding company
i i
Etectro Fiber Technology LLC Metal Coated Fibers Inc ; Technical Fibre Products Limrted
Manufactunng Manfacturing l Sales & Marketing,
Stratford, CT Cincinnat, OH 1 Newburgh, NY

2008 2007 Change Change

£'000 £'000 £000s %
Turrniover 10,125 9,003 1,122 12
Operating profit 1,426 2,053 (627)
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Business Review
Speciality
Papers

It was another year of
turbulence for the
paper manufacturing
Indusiry with regular
increases 1N the cost
of wood pulp
throughout the year

Energy costs, which had been subdued at the start of the year, rose very sharply from
the summer onwards and, together with the high cost of fibre, served (o intensify the
pressure on alt paper mills’ margins

Against this challenging backdrop Speciality Papers made significant progress durnng
the year Sales volumes were 3 5% higher than in the previous year and sales value 4 5%
higher

Perfarmance highlights amongst the different markets we serve were the office products
and framing and archival secters in the United Kingdom  In the overseas markets we
continued to develop new opportuniiies In the luxury packaging sector James Cropper
Speciality Papers 1s perhaps best known in the paper industry for its manufacture of
bookbinding and text and cover papers where the combination of colour, texture and
strength perfectly fits our abilities These sectors however regquire great distnbution
pariners to bring the products to market and we are very fortunate to work with two
outstanding marketing coempanigs in G F Smith and Winter & Company More than 30
years of business development with both has enabled us to develop these specialist
markets and adapt to their changing needs

The inflaticnary pressures from raw matenals and energy meant that we spent much of
the second half of the year talking with cusiomers about price increases All specialist
paper markets are subject to significant competiion despite the closure of many
European mills i recent years, so it 1s seldom possible 1o immed:ately recover cost
increases through our paper prices without threatening our own market share or the
viability of our customers’ business There is therefore a lag between cost increases and
price nses which 1s often missing in cormmodity papers but which helps to ensure that
our Increases are sustanable

In Operations it 1s pleasing to report further improvements in efficiency and reductions in
waste despite the market's increasing demands for quicker delivenes and smaller
quantities 2007 saw us produce more paper wiih less waste than at any time in the
mill's nistory

The hugh and volatile cost of {ossi fuels again focussed our efforts on energy efficiency
measures supported by some modest capital nvestments during the year The ambition
over the next 12 months 1s to become net exporters of electneity generated by our CHP
plant

Recent significant changes in pulp capacity have conaided with both wood supply
1ssues and alternative uses for wood, enabling the upward momentum in the price of
wood pulp to be maintaned However it has also become clear that the paper industry
can no longer rely on the historic pulp price cycle and so the way we use fibre needs
now to be constantly under review

The future remains challenging but a combination of Speciality Papers® technical
competitve advantages together with plans to refine some of our commercial strategies
means we face this with confidence

2008 2007 <Change Change
£'000 £'000 £000 %

Turnover 48,342 45967 2,375 5
Operating profit/(loss) 1,281 1,435 {154)




Business Review

Converting

The UK trading
environment was
heatthy for most of the
financial year with a
strong retail sector
drving sales of our
display board

As the financial year drew to a close demand for display board softened somewhat,
refiecting an overall stowdown in acivity Cemand for lower thickness display boarg
continued to grow due to the widespread move 10 large format itho machines by the
iarger pnnt companies This was parily at the expense of higher shickness grades used for
traditional screen-printing We believe there 1s further scope for growth in this market as
our fully recyclable dispiay board displaces plastic alternatives Production capacity was
increased at the end of the year as a result of moving part of the operation from 3-shift to
a 4-shift working regime

Converting remans the world’s only picture mountboard producer vertically integrated with
a paper mill capable of supptying all the elements of the product Demand for picture
maunitoard was broadiy n ine with the pror year n both UK and US markets We
strengthened our portfolo of products as we added a range of high thuickness solid core
boards primarily for the US market and a range of aesthetic white core products available
to all markets Our strong relationship with Larson Juht, the USA's top distributor of art and
framing products, resulted in our sales volumes holding up well despite a difficult housing
market, which normally results in a weakened market for framed art

The US$ weakened further over the year mpacting adversely on margins on sales of
piciure mountboard ta the USA As Converting has little expenditure denominated in US$
against which to offset its US$ revenues, this impact was felt on the bottom line

Cur sales of digital printing products to professional and amateur photographers via our
website, www papermilidirect com, showed further growth over the year It was also
pleasing to record continued growth of digital products o major OEMs, such as Fuy,
Epson and now lford Progress has been made on sales of fim-laminated grades, some
of which have lengthy development cycles A number of our more speciahized grades
have been added to the GF Smith collection and we are now an approved supplier to a
major packaging company

2008 2007 Change Change

£000 £'000 £'000 %
Turnover 11,856 11,157 699 6
Qperating profit/(loss) 548 460 88
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Business Review

The Paper Mill
Shop

Like many retallers, The
Paper Mill Shop ("TPMS")
has faced a challenging
year with weakening
consumer confidence and
a sgueeze on
discretionary spending

While sales were broadly in ine with the previous year helped by a number of new
and exciting marketing initiatives, an operating loss was recorded for the second year
running, although mitigated to a large degree in terms of cash flow by the approach
to depreciation outhned in the Charman's statement

Last year's Annua!l Report referred 1o the market research which had been
commissioned dunng 2007 and many of the recommendations from this research
have been mplemented aver the course of the year with encouraging results across
the chain of stores These have included a range of initatives focussing on increasing
the average transactian value, nurtunng customer loyaly and caorwersion of footlall to
sales

Over the last eight years TPMS has estabhshed itself as the leading authonty in paper
cralt retailing with its unrivalled range of high quality coloured and iextured paper and
card founded on the unique relanonship with James Cropper Speciality Papers With
the growing sophistication of craflers and crafting technigues, TPMS has launched
Paper Renaissance, a new selaction of on-trend fashionable colours that are stocked
in all stores and will evolve aver time with emerging colour trends influenced by
developments in design, textites and home furmishings

The transactional website has continued to perform well dunng the year with strong
ke for hke sales As part of the overall redesign of the site, the home page has been
redesigned 1o promote the launch of the new range of paper and card colours and
the project pages have also been given a new lock This 1 an area of the business
that has the potential for sigrificant growth and provides a complementary offening to
the chain of shop outlets

Despite the failure to reumn the business to profitability over the course of the lasi
financial year, much of the ground work for a professional and efficiartt retailing
operation are now i place including brandng and merchandising, management
structure and cost controls While the trading environment will undoubtedly be
challenging over the coming 12 menths, the business will emerge a1 the end of the
year as a positive generator of cash with a solid platform for a return to profitability

2008 2007 <Change Change
£000 £'000 £'000 %
Turnover 6,202 6,038 164 3

Operating (foss}/profit (358) (358) -

17




Health and
Safety

The Group's Safety Sirategy embraces the
need io create well-developed safety
management processes and a sound safety
culture The Group's Safety Strategy
embraces the need to create well-developed
safety management processes and a sound
safety culiure The long-term aim of the
Strategy is to achieve zero injuries By
adopting the principle that all injuries are
preventable, management are accepting that
it 1s therr responsibility to achieve this aim @n
the long term

Accidents

There were 13 Lost Time Acaidents (‘'LTAs")
In the past financial year compared ioc 12 in
the previous year However there was &
dramatic improvement in the Severty Rate
This 1s a measure of the seventy of the
injuries being suffered by injured employees
as a result of workplace accidents as shown
In the chart

Severity Rate 1s an indwect measure that
uses days lost due to injuries as an indicator
of the seventy of inuries  Its calculated by
multplying the days lfost i a penod by 1000
and by dviding the total by the total number
of hours worked In the period

Safety Bonus

The Group's Safety Bonus Scheme was extensively modified by a joint managemen; and
trade union working party during the course of the year The existing Schermne rewarded all
employees equally based upon overall Group performance Most employees feli that this
Scheme gave them little reward for their own efforts The working party's am was to improve
safety by focusing employees’ attention on their own specific work place, thus rewarding
them according to their own work team's performance

The revised Scheme has now been introduced Process and engineenng personnel have
simply become their own local operational Safety Bonus Teams Managenal and
adminisirative personnel have been altocated to a specific team If they have obvious hnks to
that team If there are no abwious links then they have been allocated at random, trying 10
keep some non-process teams together as teams, whilst balancing numbers in safety groups
overall Under the revised Scheme each member of a Team will eam a bonus for every month
that a LTA does not accur in the Team's loca! area (A LTA i1s an aceident that results in
absence of one day or more) When a LTA occurs in a Team each member of the Team
“banks” a bonus based on the number of ¢clear months singe the last LTA The meaxomum
period that can be used to earn a bonus 1s 12 consecutive months After this penod the
maximum bonus 1s "banked” Accumulation of bonus will recommence in the month following
the month n which one or more LTAS occurred or after 12 consecutive months i no LTA has
occurred Importanily, a Tearm's bonus will not be affected by the performance of ancther
team or by contractors working on Comipany prermises

The revised Scheme will contribute to a greater awarenass of safety issues in the work place
and a progressive change in safety behaviour In sumrmary the Scheme wili enable

- Managers 10 motwate and focus ther people to uniprove safety in ther own work place

« Team members 10 place greater demands on their manager to reduce nisks in their own
workplace

+ Indmdual members to take more ownership of their own safety and ihat of therr colleagues

- Operational and non-aperational members to forge a more coltaborative and inciusive
working relationship

- Shanng of ideas
» Teams to celebrate tharr success

Severity Rate
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Environment

The aims of the Group s Environment
Strategy are primarily 1o

+ ldentify and deat with those environmental
1ssues that are business critical so that
they do not become a constraint on the
business

= Establish early and continuing compliance
with emerging environmental legislation

« Maintain ISC14001 certification

= Ensure that the approach to comphance
and improvernents delivers cost saving
and efficiency gains

* Improve environmental performance by
ensunng accountability for envircnmental
matters are an integral part of the day-10-
day management of operational activities

* Devise meaningiul measures and 1argets
aganst which to montor performance

QOver the nex! few years it 1s antcipated that
there will be a significant ncrease in output
from our manutactuning facility in Burneside
As a consequence there will be a
corresponding ncrease in energy
consumption, water abstraction and waste
generation This expansion will 1ake place
agamnst the background of increasingly
tighter regulatary controk by Government
agencies, most notably through the terms
and condiions of the Group's IPPC Perrmit to
Cperate, Climate Change Agreement and the
European Union Emission Trading Scheme
('EUETS") The Group's location on the edge
of the Lake District National Park and on the
Rver Kent, a Site of Speciat Scientific Interest
and a European Site, Special Area of
Conservation, will ensure that its actviiies will
come under close scrutiny In addion the
rapid Increase In energy €osts in recent
years brings consumption and conservation
of energy Into sharp business focus
particularly when weighed aganst the
background of increasing manufacturnng
output Unless managed effectively, a
number of energy and emvronmental 1ssues
could constrain the Group from meeung s
strategic objectives

Investment programme

The Group has embarked on an ambitous
investment programme to ensure that energy

and environmental issues do not constran the Group from meeting 11s strategic objectives
Intially the programme will focus on efiluent ireatment, landfill, sold waste and energy
generalion and usage

The Group has operated its own landfill site for the disposal ¢f papermaking sludge for many
years The capacity of the site was Imited and operations ceased in mid 2007 Dunng the
course of the year the Group commiss:oned a new Effluent Dewatering Plant (“EDP™) The
atrn of the investment was to dramatically reduce the water conient of sludge, from 85% to
680% and to allow disposal of sludge from the site on a dally basis The new EDP cost £1 5m
Whilst iInvestigating alternative forms of disposal, such as biomass combustion, sludge 1s
being spread on farmland This 1s a well-established and environmentally acceptable method
of disposal Sludge generated by the Group has been passed for such use by the
Environment Agency

Energy derved from burning wasie woad and paper, papermaking sludge and forest timber
IS regarded as carbon-neutral investigations continued dunng the year into the feasibility of
generanng steam from btomass combustion The investigation has established that such a
project 1s only financially viable 1f the principal fuel used 1s solid recovered fuel (“SRF")
denved from processed household waste SRF 1s dry, hght and odourless and burns well on
1t own but the burning characteristics are enhanced when it 1s mixed with dewatered sludge
and other biomass fuels If feasible and cost effective, combustion of SRF and other biomass
fuels would

+ Lead io a reduction in fossi! iuel consumption of up to 20%,
« Mitigate the impact of EUETS

» Eliminate the disposal of sludge by land spreading and

« Mimimise the disposal of solid waste to landfill

The biomass inmative 1s clearly in ine with Government palicies to reduce the amount of
waste bured in fandfill sites and to generate more engrgy from renewable sources

A conclusion on the wiability of biomass combustion s expected by the autumn of 2008

li the results of the feasibitity study were positive, the proposal would need to be submitted
far planning permission The Group would also consuli with other interested parties, including
our neighbours, 1o provide assurance as (o the health and safety aspects of such an
operation It will be important to gain strong local support for the project if it moved beyond
the feasibility stage

Climate Change Regulations

The Group 1s a signatory to the paper sector Climate Change Agreement ("CCA'} negotiated
with DEFRA by the Confederation of Paper Industries  Under the Agreement the Group
recewves partial exemption from the Climate Change Levy on its natural gas consumption, an
80% discount aganst the Levy attribuiable 10 imported electricity and exemption from
Business Rates otherwise chargeable on our CHP plant  In return, the Group 1S commuitted 10
a senes of Increasingly stringent energy use targets that take effect over milestone target
periods, every cther year, for the 10-year term of the Agreement Yo date the Group has now
exceeded all three of its CCA milestones targets for specific energy use per tonne of saleable
product

EUETS, a mandatory scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the EU,
was Introduced in phases from 2005 it 1s one of the policies being introduced by the EU to
tackle ermissions of carbon dioxide and ather greenhouse gases from a number of specific
industnal actmties The Group's power generation facihites became subject 1o this scheme
as from 1 January 2008 In the calendar year 2007 the Group emitted 41,000 ionnes of
carbon dioxsde maiching its EUETS allpwance o emit 41,000 tonnes per annum The
Group's tnvestment programme will lead to a situation where ermissions will be reduced
further thus allowing the excess to be sold

Forestry

James Cropper PLC continues its palicy of purchasing only from those supplers who
demonsirate practical application of sound environmental management Annually James
Cropper Speciality Papers purchases some 40,000 tonnes of virgin wood pulp of the highest
environmental pedigree All of its supplers are commitied 10 sustainable forest management
and comply fully with therr loca! national standards and legistation They have also attained
the International Standards ISO 9000 and ISO 14001 relating to quality and envirenmental
management procedures respectively In addition to the Group's 1SO 14001 accreditaiion,
James Cropper Speciality Papers also holds dual accreditatron to FSC (Forest Stewardship
Counctl) and PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Foresi Certification) standards
Certification requires an auditable chain of custody for pulp sourced by the mill and subject
to strict controls, enables the mill 1o supply product under both systems This enables the
substdiary to satisfy the increasing demand from major customers and end consumers for
creditable certfication of the source of fibre used in the products they purchase Our pulp
comes substantially from Sweden and Fintand from long established suppliers
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Risk
Management

The management of
nsk 1s fundamental to
sound business
management and
underlying profit
performance  Risk
management
franscends every
aspect of the
organisation and its
activities, affecting
policies, employees,
assets, customers,
suppliers and the wider
community

OHSAS 18001 1999
OH3 93474

The Group manages nsk by a combination of insurance and self-insurance Self-insurance
refers to actions taken internally or in conjunction with other thurd parties In broad ierms,
high nsks in financial and operational areas are more dependent on insurance than risks n
commercial and personne! areas, which because of ther nature are more likety to be
managed by self-insurance In addition to the Audit Committee, which 1s a mandatory
requrermnent under the Combined Code, the Board has for some time established other
Steering Groups with nsk management bnefs  These include

» Meafth & Safety  » Environment = Insurance  » Human Resources
* Foreign Currency = Purchasing  * Pensions  « Information Systems ¢+ Energy

The Board sets approprate policies on intemal control 1t seeks regular assurance that
processes are functioning effectively In determining its policies with regard to internal! control
the Board's consideration includes the following faciors

= The extent and categones of nsk which it regards as acceptable for the Group to bear,
= The tikelihood of the risks concerned matenialising,
* The nature and extent of the nsks facing the Group,

» The Group's abity to reduce the incidence and tmpact on the business of nsks that do
matenalise, and

« The costs of operating particutar controls relative 1o the benefit thereby obtained in
managing the related rnisks

All employees have some responsibility for internal control as part of ther accountability for
achieving objectives They, coliectively, have the necessary knowledge, skills, information
and authonty to establish, operate and monitor the systems of internal control  This requires
an undersianding of the Group, its objectives, the industnes and markets in which #t
operates, and the nsks it faces

The Group does not have an internal audit depariment However cross-functional teams
regularly carry out Health & Safety and Enrvirgnmental audits Wa work with owr axtarnal
auditors and other specialist consultants to Wentify risks and weaknesses in internal controls

The Group's operational quality processes and environmental and safety management
systems are accredited with 1ISO 9001, 1SO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 respectively Not only
does comptiance with these standards form the basis of sound internat control but also they
are increasingly important I satisfying customers’ aspirations with regard to the
management of ther supply chains BS| audits our processes for continuing compliance
every six months TFP 1s accredited with the Investor in People Award This accreditation 1s
subyect to tnenniat audits The next audit will take place in late 2008

Sound internal control 1s prmartly dependent on people understanding the key 1ssues that
relate to therr area of activity and what they are expected to do in certain crreumstances
This understanding stems from the Group's Goal and i1s Values The Goal set the direction
Qur Values influence our behaviours Sound behaviours are critical to the development of
successful relationships between people The Group's strategic aims are encompassed in a
comprehensive financial planning and budgeting process with performance monitored on
monthly basis Through our performance management precess the Group's strategic aims,
plans and budgets are translated into objectives at all levels of the organisation The
performance management process is seen as a key vehicie through which indmidual
employee's perfarmance can be enhanced and developed for the mutual benedit of the
indviduat and organisation as a whole Training and development increases employees’
competencies and therefore enables them to deal with nisks more effectively Clearly defined
policies, processes and procedures (P P & Ps) provide employees with guidance There has
been consideratie effort in recent years to document and revise our P, P & Ps across all
areas of actvity These allow employees to understand the relevant practices to be
deployed Our information systems are being extensively modermised to provide faster
communications and greater accuracy that will enable the organisation to become more
efficient and effective Throughoust our organisation we are working strenuously o elminate
waste All these intiatives will allow us to become more responsive i0 the needs of our
customers and manage our nsk exposure more effectively

BS EN IS0 14001 2004 BS EN IS0 9001 2000
EMOG 5745¢ EM 10045
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Report of the
Directors

The Directors have
pleasure in submitting to
the members ther
Annual Report and the
audited accounts of the
Group for the

52 weeks ended

29 March 2008

The Annual General Meeting of the Group
will be held at the Bryce Institute, Burneside
on Wednesday, 30 July 2008 at 10 30am

Review of the Business

The Group's principal actvities compnse the
manufacture and retail of paper and paper
related products

The Chairman's Review includes a review of
business activities duning the year and
comments on future developments and
prospects Detalls of the Group's actvities
are inctuded in the Dmsional Reviews

On 31 August 2007 the trading of the
Company s 15sued share capnal was
ransterred from the Official List of the UK
Listing Authonty to the Alternative Investment
Market (“AIM") of the London Stock
Exchange

Results

The profit attrbutable to equity hotders of the
Company for the 52 weeks ended 23 March
2008 1s set oui in the Profit and Loss
Account The dividends paid duning the year,
and the proposed finat dividend, are set out
in the Notes to the financial statements

Research and Development

The Group continues 1o invest In research
and development 1o ensure that the range
and qualtty of products are continually
updated

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Directors' Report and the
financial statements

The directors are responsible for prepanng the Directors' Report and the financial
statemenis in accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial
statements for each financial year Under that law they have elected to prepare both the
group and the parent company financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the EU and applicable taws As required by the AM Rules of the London Stock
Exchange they are required to prepare the group financial staternents in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable laws and have elected to prepare the parent
financial statements on the same basis

The group and parent company financial statements are required by law and IFRSs as
adopted by the EU to present farrly the financial positon of the group and the parent
company and the performance for that penod, the Companies Act 1985 provides in
relation to such financial statements that references in the relevant past of that Act to
financial statements giving a true and farr view are references to their achieving a farr
presentation

In prepanng each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are
requrred to

« select suttable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
= make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

= state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,
and

+ prepare the financtal statements on the gong congern basis unless Itis INappropriate to
presume that the group and the parent company will continue in business

The direciors are responsible for keeping proper accounbing records that disclese with
reasonable accuracy at any ime the financial position of the parent company and enable
them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Comparnies Act 1985 They
have a general responsibifity for taking such steps as are reasonably open (o them 1o
safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other regulanties

The directors’ are responsible for the mantenance and integnty of the corporate and
financsal information included on the company’s website  Legislation in the UK governing
the preparaton and dissemsnatton of financial staterments may differ irom legislation in
other junsdictions

Corporate Governance

(1) Directors’ Responsibilities

The Board 15 accountable to the Group's shareholders for corporate governance Whilst
there 1s no requirement to comply with the Combined Code, the Group 1s committed to a
high standard of corporate governance and this section describes how the relevant
principles of governance are applied to the Group  The Group has also complied with the
Turnbull Guidance

{n) The Board

The Group Board considers that it 1s well balanced and operates i an effective manner
and 15 collectively responsible for the success of the Company It comprses five Executive
Directors and five Non-Executive Directors

Despite three directors not being independent under the Combined Code, the Board
deems all the Non-Exgcutive Directors to be independent even though James Cropper and
Mark Cropper have close family tes and John Sclater and Peter Hemming have each served
on the Board for more than nine years They display independence of character and
judgment and provide uneguivocal counsel and adwice 1o the Board

James Cropper 1s the Charman of the Company and 1s responsible for the runaing of the
Board Mark Cropper was appointed Deputy Charrman in Aprit 2008

Alun Lewis 18 the Chief Executive and 1$ résponsible {or the running of the Cormpany’s
business

Peter Herring 1s the senior independent Non-Executive Director

The Group Board met eight imes dunng the year, with prepared agendas for discussion
and formal schedules of items to be approved covering structure and strategy,

management, financial reporting and conirols, board membership and committees, and
corporate governance  There 1s a schedute of matters reserved for the Board's decision
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Report of the
Directors

The Executive Commitiee, under the
charmanship of Alun Lewrs, met nine times
dunng the year with prepared agendas for
discussion

All Directors have access to the adwice and
services of the Company Secretary The
Board has also established a formal
procedure whereby Directors, wishing to do
50 n the furtherance of ther duties, may take
independent professional adwvice, if
necessary, at the Company’s expense

All Directors are aware of theyr responsibility
to regularly update their skills and krowledge

{m) Board Committees
There are four sub-commitiees reporting 10
the Group Board

* Executve Committee

* Remuneration Commutiee
= Audit Commuttee

+ Nomination Committee

The Executive Committee compnses the
executive directors and two senior executives
The Committee's terms of reference include
the development and implementation of
strategies, operational plans, and the
agsessment and control of nsk Alun Lews,
the Company's Chief Executive, 15 Charman
of the Commuitiee

The Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Commuitee, and the Nomination Commiitee
compnse the Non-Executive Directors of the
Company David Wilks 1s Chairman of the
Audit Commutiee, Peter Merring 1s Chairman
of the Remuneration Commuttee, and James
Cropper 1s Charrman of the Nom:nation
Committee  These committegs do not
consist solely of directors deemed
independent under the Combined Code

The Board 1s satisfied that the Audit
Commutiee has at least two members who
have relevant financial expenience

Each of the Cornmitiees held meetings
during the year and therr terms of reference
are disptayed on the Comparny's website
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The following table seis out attendance of the Directors at the Board and Committee
meetings dunng the financial year

In the few Instances when a Director has not been able to attend a Board or Commuttee
mieeting due 1o other commitments his comments on the papers to be considered have
been communicated in advance 1o the relevant charman

Group Board Executive Audit| |Remuneration}] Nominations
Meetings|| Cormmittee|| Commitiee Committee Committee
Meetings|
(Executivg Directors atten] by invitation)
{8 1n the year)|[(9 1 the year}| [(2 in the year)|| (6 n the year)}| (2 In the year) l
Chairman I
J A Cropper 8 2 6 2
Executive
Directors
AllLews
{Chiet Executve) 8 9 1 4 2
J M Denman 8 8 i
G T Quayle 8 8
N A Read 8 9
P J Willink 8 g
Non Executive
Directors
P L Hemng g 1 B
J R Sclater 8 1 5
D R Wilks 8 2 8
M A J Cropper 7 1 4

{iv) Re-election

The Drrectors are subject to retrement by rotation and re-election by the shargholders in
accordance with the Articles of Association whereby one thurd of the Directors retire by
rotation each year James Cropper, John Denman and Nigel Read retire by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association and, being ehgible, offer themselves up for re-
gleclion

The Combined Code provides that any Director who has served more ihan nine years as a

non-executive director should retire and be re-appointed annually Peter Heming has served

on the Board since 1997 and offers himself for re-election John Sclater who has served on |
the Board since 1972 will retire at the Annual General Meeting, and the Company wishes to

record its gratiude to John for all his help and advice during the time he has worked with the

Company

Resolutions 3 1o 6 at the Annual General Meeting deal with the proposed re-elections of
directors

{(v) Performance Evaluation
The Board undertakes a board evaluation on an annual basis, including the sub-committees
of the Board where appropriate

The periormance evaluation process includes the Charman reviewing and monitonng the
Chief Executive's performance on an annual basis and the Chief Executive reviewing and
monitoring the Executive Drrectors The high level individual objectives agreed at the reviews
are communicated to the Remuneraticn Commiitee

The Charman reviews the Non-Executive Directors' performance annually on an indwidual
basis

The Charman's performance 1s appraised by the senior independent director and the ather
Non-Executive Directors without the Chairman being present, and the comiments fed back to
hirn for drscussion

(v1) Financial Palicies and Internal Controls

The Board 1s committed 1o presenting a full, balanced and understandable assessment of
the Company's posiion and prospecis, both i the Annual Report and at other umes as
appropnate throughout the year
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The Drrectors are responsible for prepaning the
Annual Report, the Directors' Remuneration
Report and the financial statemenis n
accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the Eurapean Union

The Directors are responsible for preparing
financiat statements for each financial year
which give a true and far view, In accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of affars of the company
and the group and of the profit or loss of the
group for that penod In preparing those
hnancial statements, the Directors are required
o -

* make [udgements and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent,

« state whether the financial statements
comply with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union,

The Directors confiern that they have complied
with the above requrements In prepanng the
financial statements

The Directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records that disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the company and the group and to
enable them to ensure that the financial
statements and the Directors’ Remuneration
Repor comply with the Companies Act and
Aricle 4 of the 1AS Regulation They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and the group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregulanties

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on the
company’s website Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial staiements may
differ from legistatron in other junsdictions

The Board 1s responsibie for and sets
appropnate policies on internal control and
seeks regular assurance, at least annually, that
enables it to satisly itself that processes are
funetiorung effectively  Such a system 1s
designed to manage rather than elminate the
risk of fallure {o achieve business objectives
and can provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance aganst materal misstatement or
loss If a failure 1s discovered the Board will
take remedial action

There is no internal audit function within the
Company and the Board consider that this 1s
appropriate given the nature of the Group’s
activities  The letter from the external auditors’
confirming theyr independence and objectvity
was reviewed by the Audit Commitiee  KPMG
Audit Pic have confirmed therr independence
and the Directors believe KPMG Audit Ple to
be independent and objeciive

The Audit Committee moniors and reviews the effectiveness of the Company's financial
accouniing process

The Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and prnincipal nsks and uncertainties affecting the
Group are considered in the Chairman's Review and the Financial Review

(vt} Risk Management
The Dwrectors continually review the effectiveness of the Group's system of intemal controls

The Board has overall ownership of the risk management strategy and process and

coordinates activity across the Group There 1s an engoing process for wentifying,

evaluaiing and managing sigrificant nsks faced by the Group, which has been in ptace for

the year under review and up o the date of approval of this Annual Report  The Group

manages nsk by a combination of insurance and self-insurance Self-insurance refers 1o

actions taken internally or in conjunction with other thurd parties In broad terms, high nsks

in financial and operational areas are more dependent en insurance than nisks in

commerctal and personnel areas, which because of ther nature are more likely 1o be

managed by self-nsurance |

Each subsichary company has a strategy and process for highlighting the key nsk areas of !
ther business, and explaining the control measures and nsk exposure It then takes

approprate steps to manage the nsk exposure taking inio consideration the Lkelihood,

impact and cost/benelit of each of the risks, In additton to the Audit Committee, which is a

mandatory requirement under the Combined Code, the Board has Steenng Groups with

rnsk management briefs

These include

« Health & Safety « Environment ‘
* Insurance * Foreign Currency

* Human Resources * Purchasing

* Pensions « Information Systerns

(wil)) Relations with Shareholders

The Finance Director and Chief Executive make presentations to institutional investors at
the time of the announcement of the intenm and final results, and the presentations can be
found on the Company's website

Citigate Dewe Rogerson, the Company's public relations adw:sors, and Brewin Dolphin
Securities, the Company's stockbrokers, arrange a senes of presentations dunng the year
1o encourage new shareholder investment, and the Cormngany's executives attend private
investor trade shows 1o promote the Company

The Non-Executive Directors attend the Annual General Meeting and are available for
discussions with shareholders

{ix) Going Concern

The Directors have considered the current trading prospects, working capital requirements,
and the avallabihty of finance and are of the opinion that the Group and Company are
going concemns  The accounts have been prepared on this basis

At the Annual General Meeting the Chairman will give an update on the current trading
pasiton and invites shareholders 10 table any questions and encourages therr participation

Payment of Creditors

The Company had 30 days (2007 32 days) purchases outstanding at 29 March 2008 [t1s
the Group's policy 10 agree 1erms of payment with ts suppliers when agreeing the terms of
a business transaction or transactrons  All suppliers are aware of this procedure and the
Group abides by the agreed payment terms subjeci 10 the terms and condiions being met
by the supplier

Employee Involvement

Regular Consultative Meetings are held with the employee trade urion representatives to
adwvise them on all aspects of company developments A monthly briefing on Group
performance 15 carmed out for all employees and they recenve a copy of the Annual Report
As a matter of policy, plans are formally discussed with those who wll use new equipment,
ptant and computer systems before designs are tinalsed Safety Improvement teams deal
with day-toc-day aspects of safety improvement

The Group cperaies an Employee Profit Shanng Scheme which 1s made up of three
elements — financial performance, salety perfaormance, and attendance performance
A Save as You Earn Share Option Scheme is also avaiiable to encourage employee
irnvolvement
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Report of the

Lirectors
continued

Independent 10 the assets on the Group
Balance Sheet there 1s an Employee Share
Trust which currently holds approx 153,000
shares in James Cropper PLC for the benefit
of all employees so that therr interesis are
Iinked to the Company's future growth

The Trust was set up in 1997 and the bal
finance came from savings achieved through
the introduction of a Profit Related Pay salary
replacement scheme

The share dividends relating to the
shareholding are pa:d into the Trust

No director 1s a trustee of the Scheme, and
the trustees confirm that they apply the
assets for purely benevolent purposes

Employment of Disabled People

It 15 the Group's policy to give equalty of
opporurity when considenng applications
from disabled people where the job
requirements are considered 1o be within
their abtlity When existing employees
become disabled they are retained wherever
reasonable and practicable The Group tries
1o provide equal promotion gppartunities
wherever possible

No donations {or palitical purposes werg
made by the Group Donations totalling
£14,000 (2007 £13,000) were made for
varous local charitable purposes
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Directors’ Authonty to allot shares

Resolution 10 which will be proposed as an special resolution renews an existing authonty
which expires this year and gives the Directors authonty to exercise the powers of the
Company to &llot un-issued shares

The Directors have no present intention of exercising the allotment authonty propaosed by this
resolution other than pursuant to existing nghts under ermployee share schemes To ensure
comphance with recently published nstitutionatl guidelines and market practice, i 1s
proposed that the authority will expire at the conclusion of the next Annuat General Meeting
or, If earlier, 15 months from the {orthcoming Annual General Meeting except insofar as
commitments 1o allot shares have been entered into before that date It 1s the intention of the
Dwectors to seek a similar authomty anncuatly

Dtsapplication of Pre-emption Rights

Resolution 11 18 being proposed as a special resolution granting the Directors authorty for |
the ensuing year $o allot shares by way of nghts to shareholders and 10 1ssug a rmaximum of
£105,905 of the nomunal share capital of the Company for cash without first offering the
shares to the existing shareholders pursuant to Section 95 of the Companies Act 1885 The
resolution also disapplies pre-exemption fights In the event of treasury shares Other than in
the case of nghts 1ssues, the amount of the general authonty to the Directors 1s hmiied to
allotments of shares for cash up to a total nominal value of £105,905 which represents
approximately 5% of the 1ssued ordinary share capital The authority will terminate at the next
Annual General Meeting or 15 manths after the forthcoming Annual General Meeting,
whichever comes first The Directors propose to renew this authorty annually

Purchase by the Company of its own Shares

Resolution 12 will be proposed as a special resolution to renew an existing authority which
expires at the Annual General Meeting and gives the Company authority 10 make market
purchases of its own shares The Directors would only exercise this power when it would be
in the interests of the Group's shareholders as a whole to do so, having regard to the effect
on both earnings and net asset values per share  Currently there 1s no intentian of making
such repurchases

If such repurchases were made, the Directors woutd have to agree whether the shares are be
cancelled or to be held in treasury so as to be available for sale at a later date

The amount of the general authority to the Directors represents 15% of the 1ssued ordinary

share capital The authonty will terminate at the next Annual General Meeting or 15 months
after the forthcorming Annual General Meeting, whichever comes first

Substantial interests
Shareholdings 1n excess of 3% of the 1ssued capital at 1 June 2008 were as {ollows -

Credit Agricole Cheuvreux International Ltd 1,396,000 16 5%
J A Cropper 1974 Settlement (Note 1 below) 1,062,974 12 5% l
M A J Cropper - Directors’ Beneficial Interest 979,113 11 6% |
J A Cropper — Directors' Non-beneficial Interest (Note 2 below) 590,129 70%
J A Cropper — Directors' Beneficial Interest 487,337 55%
Stargas Nominees Ltd 261,820 31% .
Barclayshare Nominees Ltd (Note 3 below) 255,109 30%

Noie 1 Included in this percentage 1s 6 3% aiso disclosed in the name of M A J Cropper’s
Bensficial Interest

Note2 Included in this percentage 15 3 3% ailso disclosed n the name of M A J Cropper s
Beneficial Interest

Note 3 Included in this percentage is 1 5% also disclosed in the name oi M A J Cropper's

Beneficial Interest and 1 0% also disclosed in the name of J A Cropper's Beneficial
Interest
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Auditors and Disclosure of Information to
Auditors

tach Drrector, as at the date of this report, has
confemed that insofar as they are aware there
15 no retevant audit information (that 1s,
information needed by the Company's auditors
in connection with prepanng their report) of
which the Company’s auditors are unaware,
and they have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as a Director in order to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the
Company's auditors are aware of that
informaton

The auditor's, KPMG Audit Pic, have indicated
therr willingness to continue in ofiice and
Resolution 7 will be proposed at the Annual
Genera! Meeting for therr re-appomntment

Details of Directors’ Interests

At 29 March 2008
Qrdinary  Options on

At 31 March 2007
Ordinary  Options on

Shares Ordinary Shares Ordinary
Shares Shares
Director Interest

J A Cropper Beneficial 467,337 2,565 412,989 2,565
Non-beneticial 590,129 - 531796 -
M A J Cropper  Beneficial 979,113 - 922,189 -
Non-beneticial 160,000 - - -
AlLews Beneficial 12,761 54,725 12,761 54,725
J M Denman Beneficial 1610 35,000 1,610 35,000
Non-beneticial 131,000 - 231,000 -
N A Read Beneficial 3,289 39,725 3,288 39,725
Non-beneficial 131,000 - 231,000 -
P J Willink Beneficial 7,035 39,725 7,035 38,725
Non-beneficial 28,084 - 28,084 -
G T Quayle Benefictal 4221 39,725 4,224 39,725
Non-beneficial 28,084 - 28,084 -

J R Sclater Beneficial 20,000 - 10 000
P L Hernng Beneficial 1,000 - 1,000 -
Non-beneficial 160,000 - - -
D R Wiks Beneficial 1,000 - 1,000 -
Non-beneficial 160,000 - - -

Detatls of Directors’ Interests
The Directors who served throughout the period are detaled in the Directors’ Remuneration

Report and details of therr interests in shares of the Company are listed above

The Company pays £35,000 annually to J A Cropper for the use of reservarrs 1o supply
waler 10 the factory premises

The contract 1s based on a twenty year repainng lease with rent reviews every five years

There have been no matenal changes between the year end and 1 June 2008

Further information refating 1 the interests of the Directors regarding options on ordinary
shares 1s given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report

Non-beneficial interests iclude shares held jointly as trusiee with other Directors

]ACJ;T-.

J A Cropper
Chairman

Burneside Mills

Kendal

24 June 2008




Directors’
Remuneration
Report

This Report provides
details of Directors’
remuneration

Service Coniracts

The Executive Diractors are employed on
roling one year contracts subject 1o one
year s notice served by the Group on the
Executive, and six months notice served by
the Execuiive on the Group The Chairman
1s employed on a rolling contract subject to
three months notice by erther side  Other
Non-Executive Directors are on one month's
notice by either side and they are typically
expected 10 serve wo threg-year terms, with
addmona! terms of office agreed on an
annual basis

Salaries and Fees

The remuneration and emoluments of Executve Directors are determined by the
Remuneration Comimittee  The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors 1s agreed by the
Group Board and they are not entitted o participate in pension schemes, bonus
arrangements or share schemes The basic salanes of the Executive Directors are reviewed
annually and take into consideration cost of Imng and overall accountability  Alsc considered
1S remuneration paid to senior executives In comparable public companies  This infermation
15 checked by reference to published surveys, but no formula is 1n place to determine any
specific relationship

The remuneration of senior management 1s discussed by the Chairman of the Remuneration
Commuttee and the Chief Executive and therr recommendations endorsed by the
Remuneration Committee

No Direclor can 1ake part In the decision on his own salary or reward

Annual Bonus

An Executive Directors’ Reward Scherme was introduced in Apnil 2005 which 1s structured to
reward the Executive Directors if targets are achieved on group profitability, return on
investment, safety, productmity improvements and a discretionary element agreed by the
Remuneraton Committee The total bonus payable to a director 15 capped at 25% of therr
contractual salary and 15 not pensionable

Employee Share Schemes

In 1998 the Group ntroduced Inland Revenue Approved and Unapproved Share Option
Schemes for the Executive Directors, of which detatls of the options granted are shown !ater in
this report The nules stipulate thai the Schemes terminate in 2008 and the Remuneration
Committee have therefore reviewed dunng the current year the incentive arrangements for
senior executives The Remuneration Committee concluded that the Group should establish
the James Cropper PLC 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan to repiace the expired Schemes

Long Term Incentrve Plans entitle part:cipants to recerve at ne cost, a specified number of
shares in the company f prescribed performance targets are met over a specified penod of
time They are considerad to be the preferred choice for the following reasons

- Senior executives are rewarded if they achieve substantial improvements in the company's
underlying financial performance,

- The rewards available to executives are aligned to the rewards avalable 10 shareholders,
and

- Assists In the retention of senior management over the long term

Awards under the Long Term Incentive Plans have been made dunng the year and the details
are set out later in this report

Comparison of Five Year Cumulative Total Shareholder Return (TSR)

To enable shareholders 1o assess the Company's performance agamnst the London Stock
Exchange, the cumulative TSR for the penod ended 29 March 2008 s shown in the graph
below The FTSE All Share 1s deemed 10 be the most appropnate companson In terms of
performance TSR is the iotal return to shareholders in terms of capital growth and dwidends
reinvested

Total Shareholder Return

— Jomes Cropper PLC === FTSEAIM = FTSE All Shara
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Details of Directors’ Remuneration
The following table brings together the vanous elements of remuneration of each director for the financial year perod
ended 26th March 2008 -

Salary and Fees Benelits Annual Bonus Total
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Executive
AlLewis 103 96 t5 15 1 1 129 122
J M Denman a3 81 14 13 11 11 108 108
N A Read 79 77 11 12 10 10 100 a9
P J Willink 78 73 16 17 12 11 106 101
G T Quayle a3 73 15 14 11 15 109 102
Non-Executive
J A Cropper 32 34 15 11 - - 47 45
J R Sclater 15 15 - - - - 15 15
P L Hernng 17 17 - - - - 17 17
DR Wiks 17 17 - - - - 17 17
M A J Cropper i5 7 - - - - 15 7
522 480 86 82 55 58 663 830
Highest paid Director
2008 2007
£7000 £000
Aggregate emoluments 129 122
Accrued pension under defined benefit pension scheme 34 31

Directors’ Pensions
The Executive Directors who served during the year have retrement benefits aceruing under the Group’s Staff Pension Scheme, which 1s a
Defined Benefit Scheme

The following table shows the amount of entiflernents earned, the accrued pension habikities and the changes therein

Increase increase Total Transfer Increase in Transier Transfer

In accrued in accrued accrued  value of net transfer value of value of

pension pension pension at increase n value less accrued accrued

per annum excluding 29 March  acerual after directors’ pension at  pension at

inflation 2008 inflation  contnbutions 29 March 31 March

per annum per annum  aver penod 2008 2007

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Al Lews 2 4 34 21 63 445 372
J M Denman 2 4 35 30 104 546 434
N A Read 1 2 34 7 58 492 426
P J Willink 1 2 21 7 N 203 164
G T Quayle 2 3 20 23 51 302 243

The accrued pension Is the amount that the director would receive If he retired at the end of the year
The increase 1n the accrued penston 1s the difference between the accrued benefit at the year end and that at the previous year end

Al transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuanal advice in accordance with Actuanal Guidance Note GN11 - The transfer
values represent the value of assets that the pension scheme would need to transfer to another pension prowider on transfernng the
scheme's kability i respect of the directors' penston benefits  They do not represent sums payable 10 indvidual directors and therefore
cannot be added meaningfully to annual remuneration

The increase In ranster value less directors’ contnbutions is the increase i the transfer value of the accrued benefits dunng the year atter
deducting the directors’ personal contributions 1o the scheme

The transfer value of net increase m accrual discloses the curent value of the icrease In accrued benefits that the director has eamed in
the period, whereas his change In transfer value, required by the Comparnies Act, discloses the absolute increase or decreases in his
transfer value and mncludes the change in value of the accrued benedits that results from market volatility aftecting the transfer value at the
beginning of the pertod, as well as the addiwonal value earned in the year
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Directors’
Remuneration
Report

continued

Share Options
At the 1998 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved the introduction of the 1998 Inland Revenue approved Share Option Scheme

The movements on this Scheme duning the year were -

Number Number Number QOptions Exercise Number

at 31 March granted exercised lapsed Price at 29 March

2007 In penod in pened In penod £ Exercisable 2008

J A Cropper 2,565 - - - 2027 August 2001 to Augus. 2008 2,565
AllLews 10,000 - - - 2027 August 2001 to August 2008 10,00G
4,725 - - - 2059 December 2002 to December 2009 4,725

N A Read 10,000 . . . 2027 August 2001 to August 2008 10,000
4,725 - - - 2059 December 2002 to December 2009 4725

P J Willink 10,000 - - - 2027 August 2001 to Augus* 2008 10,000
4725 - - - 2059 December 2002 to December 2009 4,725

G T Quayle 10,000 - - - 2027 August 2001 1o Augusi 2008 10,000
4725 - - - 2059 December 2002 to December 2009 4,725

Al the 2000 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved the introduction of the Unapproved Part of the 1998 Serior Executive Share
Option Scheme

The movements on this Scheme dunng the year were -

Number Number Number Opticns Exercise Nurnber

at 31 March granted exercised lapsed Price at 29 March

2007 In period In peried in penod £ Exercisable 2008

Al Lewis 10,000 - - - 28615 August 2003 to August 2010 10,000
30,000 - - - 2 065 June 2004 to June 2011 30,000

J M Denman 20,000 - - - 2615 August 2003 to August 2010 20,000
15,000 - - - 2065 June 2004 to June 2011 15,000

N A Read 10000 - - - 2815 August 2003 to August 2010 10,000
15,000 - - - 2065 June 2004 1o June 2011 15,000

P J Willink 10,000 - - - 2615 August 2003 to August 2010 10,000
15,000 - - - 2065 June 2004 to June 2011 15,000

G T Quayle 10,000 - - - 2615 August 2003 to August 2010 10,000
15,000 - - - 2065 June 2004 to June 2011 15,000

The opticns for the 1998 Share Option Schemes are subject to the periormance condition that before the options can be exercised, the
growth n earnings per share must exceed the growth In Retall Price Index plus 2% per annum for the Approved Scheme, and plus 3% per
annum for the Unapproved Scheme, gver a penod of three consecutive years commencing no earfier than the date of the grant of the
optons  These performance conditions were considered to be appropnate measures when the schemes were introduced

The options can be exercised at any time after three years as long as the performance conditions have been reached in any three year
period since the option was granied
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Long Term Incentive Plans
Awards were made dunng the year under the 2008 Long Term Incentrve Plan as follows

Number Number Number Options Number

at 31 March granted exercised lapsed  at 20 March

2007 11 period n perod n penod 2008

Allews - 15,000 - - 15000
J M Denman - 12,000 - - 12,000
N A Read - 12,000 - - 12,000
P J Wilhnk - 12,000 - - 12,000
G T Quayle - 12,000 - - 12,000

The maximum number of shares that can be awarded i0 any parucipant in a financial year under the Leng Term Incentive Scheme,
determined by reference 1o average mid market prices at the time of the award, 1s imited 1o 50% of the paricipant’s basic salary
The average rmd rmarket price of the awards granted in the year was £2 191

The Awards are subject to the following performance condimions
- Awards will vest in full If the eamings per share, adjusted for IFRS pension adjustments, exceed the increase in retal price index plus 10%
per annum over a three year period,

- Awards will vest as to 10% if the earnings per share adusted for IFRS pension adjustments, exceed the increase in retail price index plus
2 5% per annum over a three year pericd,

- Awards wil vest proportionally between 10% and 100% if the earmings per share, adjusted for IFRS adjustments, exceed the increase in
retail price Index by maore than 2 5% and less than 10% per annum over a three year perod.,

- Awards will lapse if earmings per share, adjusted for IFRS pension adjustments, do not exceed the increase m retail price plus 2 5% per
annum over a three year period

The market price of the shares at the perniod end was £1 90 and the hugh and low for the per:od was £2 61 and £1 815 respectively

P L Hernng
Charrman of the Remuneration Commitiea
24 June 2008
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iIndependent
Auditors’ Report

to the members of
James Cropper plc

We have audited the group and parent
company financial statements (the "financial
statements*) of James Cropper PLC for the
pericd ended 29 March 2008 which
comprise the Group Income Statement, the
Group and Parent Company Balance
Sheets, the Group and Parent Company
Cash Flow Statements, the Group and
Paren: Company Statements of Recognised
Income and Expense and the related notes
These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set
out therein

This report 13 mace solely 10 the company's
members, as a bedy, in accordance with
section 235 of the Companies Act 1985

Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the company's members
those matters we are required (o state to
them in an auditor's report and for no other
purpose To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume
responsibiity 10 anyone other than the
company and the company's members as a
body, for cur audit work, for this report, or for
the opiniens we have formed
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Respective responsibiliies of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibitities for preparing the Annual Report and the financal statements n
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopled by the EU are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibdities on page 21

Our responsibility 15 to audit the {inancial statements in accordance with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our opinion as io whether the financial statements give a tue and fair view
and are properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 We also report to vou
whether in our opinion the information given in the Dwectors' Report s consistent with the
financial statements The information given 1n the Directors' Report includes that specific
information presented in the Operaung and Financial Review that 1s cross referred from the
Business Review section of the Directors' Report

In additon we report ta you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting
recards, If we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if nfermation specified by law regarding directars’ remuneration and other transackons is
not disclosed

We read the other information contaned in the Annual Report and consider whether it 1s
consistent with the audited financial statements We consider the implications dor our repon o
we become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenal inconsistencies with the
financial statements Cur responsibilities do not extend 1o any other information We read the
Directors' Repert and consider the implications for our report f we become aware of any
apparent misstaternents within it

Basis of audit opimon

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board An audit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 1t also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments madea by the directors in
the preparation of the financial statements and of whether the accouniing policies are
appropriate 10 the group's and company's crcumsiances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit 50 as to obtain all the information and explanations
which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal russtatement,
whether caused by fraud or other rrregulanty or error In forming our opinion we glso evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentaiion of information in the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinien

+ the group financial statements give a true and farr view, in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU, of the state of the group's affairs as at 29 March 2008 and of its profit
for the period then ended,

« the parent compary financal statements give a true and far view, in accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the EU as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
1985, of the state of the parent company's affarrs as at 23 March 2008,

= the financial statements have been property prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985, and

* the information given i the Directors' Report is consistent with the financial statements

flc

w g Aca
KPMG Audit Plc /

Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor

24 June 2008
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Group Profit
and Loss

Account

for the period ended
29 March 2008

2008 2007

Note £'000 £'000
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 72,744 68,085
Qther Income 157 195
Changes in nventortes of finished goods and work in progress 212 8N
Raw matertals and consumables used (32,703) {30,425)
Energy costs (3.531) (2,833)
Employse benefit costs 22 {18,285) {17.269)
Depreciation and amortisation 4 (3,280) (3.315)
Other expenses {13,498) (12,880)
Operating profit 1,818 2,461
Interest expense (942) {783)
Interest income 787 524
Share of post tax loss from joint ventures 10 ((:3)] (95)
Profit before tax 4 1580 2107
Taxation 5 (390) (748)
Profit for the period attnbutable to
equity holders of the Company 20 1,190 1,361
£arnings per share expressed n pence per share 6
- Basic 14 0p 162p
- Diluted 14 0p 162p
Dwvidends per share expressed in pence per share 7
- 2008 interm dwdend paid 22p 19p
- 2008 final dvidend proposed 51p 51p
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RBalance Sheets

as at 29 March 2008

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
Note £000 £000 £°000 £'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 8 1,572 1,351 1,333 1,351
Property plant and equipment 9 20,308 21,517 923 1,080
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 10 - - 7,350 7,350
Investmeants in joint ventures 10 - 58 - -
Finanoal assets
Deferred tax assets 18 505 1,848 505 1,846
22,385 24,772 10,111 11,627
Current assets
Inventones 11 9,640 8,366 - -
Trade and other recevables 12 14,096 14,462 28237 26,500
Financ:al assets
- Denvative financral instruments 16 - 4 - 4
Cash and cash equivalents 13 1,917 3,730 - 422
Current 1ax assets - - - 67
25,653 26,562 28,237 26,993
Liabilities
Current iabilities
Trade and other payables 14 {8,124) (8,544) (2.765) (3.173)
Financial kabibties
- Borrowings 15 {2,170) (2.374) (5,986} (2374)
Current tax habtities {720) (1,020) - -
(11.014) (11,938) (B 751) (5.547)
Net current assels 14,639 14,624 19,486 21,446
Non-current liabilities
Financial habilities
- Borrowings 15 (5,763} (6.650) {4,504) (6.650)
Retirement benefit latulities 17 (1,804) {6,152) (1,804) {6,152)
Deferred tax latshties 18 (3.796) {3.941) {486) (584)
{11,363} (16,743) {6 794) {13.386)
Net assets 25,661 22,653 22,803 19,687
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary share capital 19 2,118 2,118 2,118 2118
Share premium 20 573 573 573 573
Translation reserve 20 22 8 - -
Retained earnings 20 22,948 19,970 20,112 16,996
Total shareholders’ equity attributable to equity holders 25,661 22,653 22,803 19,687

of the Company

The financtal statements on pages 31 10 56 were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2008 and were signed on its behalf by

7}(
J A Cropper
Cirector
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Cash Flow Statements

for the period ended 29 March 2008

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

Nota £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from / (used by) operating actvities 21 3.443 5,133 (3.808) {824)
Interest receved 493 370 1,833 1,822
Interest pad (854) {760) (720) (740}
Tax pad (649) 87 (648) -
Net cash generated from / (used by) operating activities 2,433 4,656 {3,343) 258
Cash flows from investing activities
nvesiment In joint venture (50) 87) -
Acguisition of subsidianes (net of cash acquired) (550} - - -
Purchase of intangible assets (213) (254) (213) (254)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,574) (2,502) (133) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 196 1,691 185 10
Drvidends recenved - - 1,600 850
Purchase of LTIP investments (368} - - -
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activites (2,559) {1,152} 1,438 606
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of new bank loan 1,259 1000 - 1000
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary Share Capital - 147 - 147
Repayrnent of borrowings (2,349) (2,333) (1,717 (2.333)
Dividends paid to sharehclders (618} (343} 618) (343)
Net cash used In financing activities (1,708) (1 529) (2.335) (1,529)
Effect of exchange rate changes 21 ta) - -
Net {decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,813) 1,968 (4,239) (665)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 3,730 1,762 422 1,087
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the perod 1,917 3,730 (3,817} 422
Cash and cash equivalents consists of
Cash at bank and in hand 13and 15 1,917 3,730 (3.817) 422

Statement of Recognised Income and Expense

for the period ended 29 March 2008

Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Note £'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Profit for the penod 1,190 1,361 951 102
Currency translation differences on foreign currency investrnent 21 {18) - -
Retrement benefit habiliies - actuanal gains 17 3,855 3,756 3,855 3,756
Deferred tax on actuanal gains on retirement benefit habiifies 18 (1,157) {1,127) (1.157) (1,127)
2719 2,61 2,608 2,628

Total recognised income for the penod attnbutable to equity hotders 3,908 3,972 3649 2,73
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting policies

The principal accounting pohicies adopted in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated

Basis of preparation

Both the parent cormpany hinancial statements and the group
financial statements have been prepared and approved by the
directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU { Adopted IFRSs")  On publishing
the parent company financial statements here together with the
group financial statements, the Company 1$ taking advantage of
the exemption in $230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to present its
indmdual Profit and Loss Account and related notes that form a
part of these approved financial statements

The preparation of financial statements in conforrmity with generalty
accepted accounting principles requires the use of esttmates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
habiliies at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period
Assumptions used in the calculation of the Group's retirement
hability and amounts capitalised as intangible assets have the
biggest impact on these financial statements  Although these
esumates are based on management's best knowledge of the
amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from
those estimates [FRS 7 "Financial Instrumenis Disclosure” was
adopied during the year The adoption of IFRS 7 had no impact on
either the Group Profit and Loss Account or Balance Sheets but
has resulied \n changes to the disclosures provided in respect of
fimancial nstruments As this 1s a new disclosure it has not been
possible to provide figures for the prior year, current year
information has been provided, and it 1s the company's intention to
disclose current year and prior year figures going forward

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements of the group consolidate the accounts of
the company and those of its subsidiary undertakings No
subsidiaries are exciuded from consolidation  The results and cash
flows of subsidiary undertakings acquired are included irom the
effective date of acquisition Intfragroup batances and any
unrealised Income and expenses arising from intragroup
transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
stalements

Subsidianes are entities controlled by the Group Control exists
when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, 1o govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its actvities The financial statements of subsidianes are
included In the consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences untit the date that control ceases

Joint Ventures

Jownt ventures are entities over which the Group has joint control
based on a contractual arrangement The results and assets and
habilities of joint ventures are incorporated N the consolidated
financial statements using ihe equity method of accounting from
the date that jont control commences until the date that jont
control ceases

Revenue recognition

Revenue compnses the far value of the consideration for the sale
of goods and services, net of value added tax, rebates and
discounts Revenue from the sale of goods Is recognised when the
group has transferred nsks and rewards of ownership of products
10 the customer, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably
and collectabilty of the related recewvables is reasonably assured
Whilst the Group's revenue In respect of services 1s mirurmal where
such services are provided revenue 15 recogrised on completion of
the services, when the amount can be relably measured and
collection 1s reasonably assured

Segmental reporting

The Group's pnmary reporting format 1s business segments and its
secondary format is geographical segments based on locaton of
customer Business segments are those components of the Group
that are engaged in providing a group of related products that are
subject to nsks and returns that are diiferent to other business
segments (Geographical segments are components where the
eventual product destination 1S N a particular geographic
environment which 1s subject to nisks and returns that are different
from other such segments Costs are allocated 1o segmenis based
on the segment 1o which they relate  Central costs are recharged
on an appropriate basis

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foregn curencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transacton Monetary assets
and labiises denominated in foreign currencies at the Balance
Sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that
date Foreign exchange differences ansing on translation are
recogrused in the Profit and Loss Account Non-monetary assets
and liabilties that are measured in terms of histonical costin a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date
of the transaction

The assets and labiities of foraign operations are translated at
foreign exchange rates ruling at the Balance Sheet date The
revenues and expenses of foreign operaions are translated at an
avarage rate for the penod where this rate approximates to the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions

Research and development

Research expenditure 1S recognised as an expense as incurred
Casts Incurred on development projects (relating to the design and
testing of new or improved products) are recognuised as ntangible
assets when the IAS38 conditons are met Other development
expenditures are recognised as an expense I1s incurred
Development costs with a finite useful hfe that have been
capitalised are amortised from the commencement of the
commercial production of the product aon a straight-ine basis over
the pencod of its expected benefit, not exceeding 5 years

Retirement benefits

The Group aperates vanous pension schemes  The schemes are
generally funded through payments 1o trustee-admiristered funds,
determined by pencdic actuanal valuatons The Group has both
defined benefit and defined contribution plans A defined benefit
plan 1s a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit
that an employee will receive on retrement A defined contnibution
plan 1s a pensicn plan under which the Group pays fixed
contnibutions

The liaknlity recogmised in the Balance Sheet in respect of defined
benetit pension plans 1s the present value of the defined benefit
cbligation at the Balance Sheet date less the far value of plan
assets The defined benelit cbligation s calculated annually by
independent actuanes using the projected unit credii method The
present value of the defined benefit obligation 1s determined by
discounting the estimated future cash flows using interest rates of
high-qualiy corporate bonds that are dencrinated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability

Actuanal gains and losses ansing from experience adjustments
and changes in actuanal assumptions are recogrised in the period
in which they occur outside of profit and loss in the Statement of
Recognised Income and Expense

Past service costs are recogrused immediately in income, unless
the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees
remaining In service for a specified penod of time (the vesting
peniod) In this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a
straight-hng basis over the vesting pertod
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For defined contribution plans, the Group pays agreed
contnbutions to the schemes The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been pawd  The
coninbutions are recogrused as an employee benetit expense
when they are due

Share based payments

Options granted to employess are recognised as employee
expenses based on farr value at grant date, with a corresponding
Increase 1N equity, over the period in which the employees become
unconditionally entitted 1o the options  The farr value of the options
granted 15 measured using an option valuation model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the oplions were
granted The amount recognised as an expense Is acdjusted (o
reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where
forfeiture 15 dug only to share pnees not achieving the threshald for
vesting

Intangtble fixed assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated imparrments losses, if any The foliowing useful
lives have been determined for intangible assets

Trade secrets such as processes or unigue recipes
10 years

Computer software
3-10vyears

Property plant and equipment

Property, plant and equiprment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation Depreciation 15 provided on al! property, plant and
equipment, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to wriie off
the cost less residual value of each asset evenly aver its expected
useful hie, as follows

Freehold buldings 14 - 40 years
Plant and mach:nery 4 - 20 years
Residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually

Inventortes

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value
Cost is determined using the frst-in first-out (FIFO} method The
cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design
costs, raw matenals, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity} It
excludes borrowing costs Net realisable value 1s the estimated
selling price n the crdinary course of business, less applicable
vaniable selling expenses

Grants

Capital grants are credited to a deferral account and released to
incomae over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets
Grants of a revenue nature are credited to the Profit and Loss
Account In the pened to which they relate

Leasing

L.eases are classified as finance leases at Inception where
substantally all of the nsks and rewards of ownership are
fransierred to the Group Assets classified as finance leases are
capnahsed on the Balance Sheet and are depreciated over the
expected useful ife of the asset  The interest element of the rentat
cbhigation 1s charged to the Profit and Loss Account over the penod
of the lease and represents a constant proportion of the balance of
capital repayments outsianding Operaling lease payments are
charged to the Profit and Loss Account in the appropriate penod

Taxation

Tax on the Profit or Loss Account for the year compnses curent
and deterred tax Tax is recognsed in the Profit and Loss Account
except 10 the extent that it relates t¢ 1tems recogrnised directly in
equity, in which case it 1s recogrised in equity

Deterred tax is provided on temnporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and habilities for financial reporung
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes The
following temporary difierences aie not provided for the nitial
recognition of goodwdl, the iInmal recognition of assets or hiabiliies
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other thanin a
business combination, and differences refating to Investmants In
subsicanes to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the
foreseeable future The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of agsets and habiities, using 1ax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the Balance Shee: date

A deferred tax asset 1s recogrised only to the extent that it 1s
probable that future taxable profits will be avaltable against which
the asset can be utiised

Financial nsk management

The Group s aciivities expose 1t to a variety of financial nsks
including the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates, credit
risks, lquidity and interest rates

The Group uses denvative financial Instruments to hedge certain
risk exposures

a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group has operations inthe USA  The Group 15 exposed to
ioreign exchange nsks primanly with respect to US Dollars and the
Euro Where possible, the Group mantans a policy of balancing
sales and purchases denominated in foreign currencies  Where an
imbalance remains, the Group has also entered inte certain forward
exchange contracts No matenal contracts were outstanding at the
year end

b) Interest rate nsk

The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained

profits and bank borrowings  The Group borrows in the desired
currencies at floating rates of interest and then uses interest rate
caps to manage 1ts exposure to interest rate fluctuations

¢} Liquidity nsk

The Group's policy 1s 1o maintain a mix of short, medium and long
term borrowings with a number of banks  Short term flexibilty 1s
achieved through overdraft facilities Its, in addition, the Group's
policy to maintain undrawn commitied borrowing facilities in order \
to provide flexibility in the management of iquidity

d) Credit nsk

The Group has implemented pohcies that require apprepnate credit
checks on potential customers before sales commence for some of
its businesses tn addiion, some of the Group's businesses have
credit Insurance in place

Financial instruments

Dervatives are iniially recognised at fair value on the date a
denvative contract 1s entered into and are subsequenily re-
measured at therr far value at each Balance Sheet date The
resulting gain or loss on re-measurement 1s recogrised in the Profit
and Loss Account, unless hedge accounting i1s applicable There
were no matenal balances at the year end

Loans and receivables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market
They anse when the Group provides money, goods or services
directly 10 a debtor with no intention of trading the recevable  They
are ncluded in current assets, except those with matunties greater
than twelve months after the Balance Sheet date, which are
classified as non-current assets Loans and recewvatles are
included within trade and other recevables in the Balance Sheet

The far value of financial Instruments traded in active markets 1s |
based on quoled market pnces at the Balance Sheet date |
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1 Accounting policies {continued)

Investments
Trade investments are stated at cost less any impasrment in value

The Group's share of the proiit less losses of joint ventures is
included in the Profit and Loss Account on the equity accounting
basis The carmyng value of joint ventures in the Group Balance
Sheet 1s calculated by reference to the Group's equity In the net
assels of such joint ventures as shown in the most recent
accouns

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly iquid investments with
anginal matunties of three months or less, and bank overdrafts
Bank overdrafts are shown as borrowings wihin current iabilities
on the Balance Sheet Bank overdrafis that are repayable on
demand and form an ntegral part of the Group’s cash
management are included as a component of cash and cash
equvalents for the purpose only of the Statement of Cash Flows

Borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised inihally at fair vafue, net of transaction
costs incurred  Borrowings are subsequently stated at amonised
cost, any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs} and the redemption value 1s recegnised in the Profit and
Loss Account over the pencd of the borrowings using the effective
Interest method  Interest 1s not capitaised within property, plant
and equipment

Interest
Interest Is recogrised i the consolidated Prohit and Loss Account
on an accruals basis using the effective interest method

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recorded at their fair value after appropriate
revision of imparment

Trade payables
Trade payables are stated at therr far value

Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there 1s any
indication that an asset may be impawred Where an dicator of
impairment exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable
amourt Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amouni the asset 1s winitten down 1o 11s recoverable
amount Recoverable arnount is the higher of {arr value less costs
ta sell and value in use and 15 deemed for an individizal asset If the
asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is
determined Discount rates reflecting the asset specific nisks and
the time value of money are used for the value in use calculation

Capital Management

Group and Company's capilal includes share capital, reserves and
retained earnings The Group and Company's policy ts to maintain
the ability 10 continue as a going concern n order to provide
returns 1o the shareholder and benefits to other stakeholders The
Group, and Company, (nvest In financral assets that will prowvide an
adequate leve! of return 1o the shareholder commensurate with the
level of nisk

The Group and Company manages the capital structure and
ad)justs thus n hight of the changes in the economic conditions and
nsk associated with the undertying assets In order {io maintan or
adjust the capital structure, the Group and Company may adjust
the amount of any dividend paid 10 the shareholder, return capital
10 the shareholder i1ssues new shares, or sell assets to reduce
debt The Group, and Company, are not subject to any externally
imposed capital requrements There have been no matenal
changes in the management of capital during the penod

New standards and interpretation not apphed

The following adaopted IFRS, which will have an impact for the
Group, was availlable for early adoption, but has not been applied
in these financial statements

International Accounting Standards Effective date
and Interpretations

IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009

IFRS 8 requires that entities adopt the ‘management approach’ to
reporting the financial performance of its operating segments Itis
conceined with disclosures only and, as such, will have no impact
on the Group Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheets
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2 Segmental reporting

Primary reporting format - business segments
Penod ended 29 March 2008

Papermaking The Convering Techmcal Group Cther Eliminations Group
Paper Mill Fibre Services
Shop Products
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £:000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Continuing operations

Revenue - External 45,229 6,202 i1,188 10,125 - - - 72,744
- Inter-segment 3113 - 668 - - - {3.781) -

Segment profit / {!oss) before
HQ Intra Group charges 1,790 (309) 648 1,549 {1,862) - 1,816

Segment profit / (loss) after

HQ Intra Group charges 1,281 (358) 548 1,426 {1,081) - - 1,816
Interest Expense {942)
Interest Income 767
Share of post tax results of joint ventures (61)
Profit before tax 1,580
Taxation (390}
Profit tor the year from continuing operations 1,190

Total Assets 29,238 1,695 10,127 12,501 38,348 2,018

(45,887) 48,038

Total Liabilities (22,863) (1,654) (7.442) (0.841)  (15.545) (368)

35,336 (22,377)

Other segment items

Capital expenditure 1,090 26 120 756 345
Depreciation 1,740 315 2 494 197
Amarusation of intangible assets - - - i2 231
Impairment of trade recevables - - (10) 12 -

- 2,337
3.037
243

At 29 March 2008, the Group s arganised into five main business segments pancipally based inthe UK

« Papermaking - refates to James Cropper Speciality Papers Manutacturer of coloured paper and boards
* The Paper Mill Shop - relates to the retailing of paper and associated products

+ Converting - relates to James Cropper Converting Converting of paper

+ Technical Fibre Products — Manufacture of high performance wet-daid non-wovens from fibres

+ Group services — compnses central functions providing services to the subsichary companies

Comparative information s presented on the same basis
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Notes to the financial statements (continueq)

2 Segmental reporting (continued)

Pnmary reporttng format - business segments
Penod ended 31 March 2007

Papermaking The Paper Converting  Technical Group Other Eiminations Group
Mill Shop Fibre Services
Products
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Continuing operations
Revenue - external 43,68¢ 8,038 10,364 9,003 - - - 69,085
- inter segment 2,287 . 793 - - {3.080) -
Segment profit/{loss)
before HQ Intra Group charges 1,896 {336) 551 2,144 (1,794) - - 2,461
Segment profit/{loss)
atter HQ Intra Group charges 1,435 (358) 460 2,053 {1,129) . - 2,461
Interest expense (783)
Interest income 524
Share of post tax resulis of jaint ventures (95)
Profit befare tax 2,107
Taxation {(746)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,361
Segment assets 28,352 1,832 9145 9,864 38,619 1,648 {38,077} 51,383
Investment in eguity
accounted joint venture - - - 58 - - - 58
Total Assets 28,352 1,832 9,145 9,922 38,619 1,648 (38.077) 51,441
Total Liabilities (22,799) {1.426) (6.970) (7,176} (18,932) - 28,515 (28,788)
Other segment items
Capital expenditure 1,731 52 323 396 254 - - 2,756
Depreciation 1,742 365 367 417 205 - - 3,096
Amortisation of intangble assets - - - - 219 - - 219
Impairment of trade recevables (4) - (5) 2B - - - i9

Secondary reporting format — geographical segments
The Group’s manufacturing operations are principally based in the UK The sales analysis in the 1able below 1s based on the location of
the customer

Revenue Segment asset Capital Expenditure
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Continuing operations
UK 44 670 43,871 44,747 49,833 1,787 2,756
Europe 14,560 12,000 - - -
The Americas 7,932 7036 329 1,550 597
Asta 3,949 4,413 - - -
Australasta 1,258 1,558 - - -
Afnca 375 207 - - -
72,744 69,085 48,038 51,383 2,384 2,756
Investment i equity accounted joint ventures - - - 58 - -
72,744 69,085 48,038 51,431 2,384 2,756
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3 Finance costs

2008 2007
£'000 £'000
Interest expense
Interest payable on bank borromngs 942 783
Total interest expense 942 783
Interest income
Interest recevable on bark borrowings 540 345
Retrement benefits
Expected return on pension scheme assets 3.818 3,482
interest on penston scheme #iabiliies (3.591) (3.313)
Total interest income 767 524
4 Profit/{loss) before tax
2008 2007
Note £'000 £'000
The following iterns have been charged/(credited) in armving a1 profit before tax
Staff costs 22 18,285 17,269
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- owned assets 3,037 3,086
-amortisaton of intangibles 243 219
Profit on disposal of fixed assetls {103) (39
Other operating lease rentals payable
-Plant & machinery 480 386
-Retail outlets 969 g7z
Repairs and maintenance expendiiure on property, plant and equipment 2,038 2,342
Government grants received (102) {133)
Fair value adjustments relating to financial assets and liabillities at farr value through profit and loss - 8
Research and development expenditure 862 767
Foreign exchange differences (129) 267
Trade recevables imparment 2 19
Govemment grants relate to assistance recewved for research projects
Services Provided by the Group's Auditor and network firms
During the year the Group obtaned the following services from the Group's
auditor KPMG Audit Ple {2007 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP) at costs as detaled below
2008 2007
£'000 £°000
Audit Services
- Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of parent company and consolidated accounts 13 13
Other services
- Remuneration payable to the company's auditor for the auditing of accounts and associates of the
comparny pursuant to legislaiion (iIncluding that of countries and terntories cutside Great Britan) 4 40
-Fees in respect of work performed on granis - 3
-Fees in respeci of other accountancy matters 5 -
-Tax comphance sernvices - 32
-Tax advisory semvices 19 -
78 88
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

5 Taxation

Analysis of charge In the period

2008 2007
Continuing operations Note £'000 £000
Current tax 773 958
Adustments in respect of prior penod current tax (424) 317

349 6541
Deferred tax 18 (373) {118}
Adjustments in respect of prior perod deferred tax 18 414 221
41 105

Taxation 330 746
Tax on items charged to equity
Deferred tax on actuanal gains on retirement benefit habilites 1,157 1,127
The tax for the period 1s lower (2007 higher) than the standard rate of corperation tax in the UK (30%)
The differences are explained below

2008 2007

£'000 £'000
Profit before tax 1,580 2107
Prafit multiplied by rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2007 30%) 474 632
Effects of
Adjustrnents to tax in respect of prior period (10) {986)
Unreheved tax losses - 129
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 129 79
Rate change on deferred tax (220) -
QOther 17 2
Total taxation (continuing operatons) 390 746

6 Earnings per share

Basic earmings per share s calculated by dividing the earnings attnbutable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of

shares outstanding dunng the year

For diluted earmings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue 1s adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive

potential ordinary shares  The Group has one class of dilutive potential ordinary shares - those share options granted (o employees where

the exercise price s less than the average market price of the company's ordinary shares during the year
Reconcihations of the earrungs and wetghted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below

2608 2007
Earnings Weighted Per-share Earnings Weighted Per-ghare
average amaount average amount
number number
of shares of shares
£'000 ‘000 pence £'000 000 pence
Basic EFS
Eamings atinbutable to ordinary shareholders 1,180 8,472 140 1,361 8,376 162
Effect of dilutive securties
Options - 21 - - 9 -
Diluted EPS 1,190 8,493 140 1,361 8,385 162
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7 Dividends

2008 2007
£000 £'000
Final paid for the penod ended 31 March 2007/penod ended 1 Apnl 2006 432 184
Intenm paid for the period ended 29 March 2008/period ended 31 March 2007 186 159

In addition, the directors are proposing a final dwidend in respect of the financial penod ended 28 March 2008 of 5 1p per share which will
absorb an estirmated £432,000 (2007 £432,000) of shareholders' funds  If approved by memibers at the Annual General Meeting, it will be
pad on 15 August 2008 to shareholders who are on the register of members at 18 July 2008 There are no tax implications in respect of
this proposed dividend

The proposed dividend 1s not accounted for untit t 1s formally approved at the Annual General Meeting

8 Intangible assets

Group Company
Computer Trade Total Computer Trade Total
Scftware Secrets Software Secrets
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 31 March 2007 2,971 - 2,971 297 - 2,971
Additions -acquired 17 251 268 17 - 17
Additions - internally generated 196 - 196 196 - 196
At 29 March 2008 3,184 251 3,435 3,184 - 3,184
Aggregate amortisation
At 31 March 2007 1,620 - 1,620 1.620 - 1,620
Charge for peniod 231 12 243 231 - 231
At 29 March 2008 1,851 12 1,863 1,851 - 1,851
Net book value at 29 March 2008 1,333 239 1,572 1,333 - 1,333
Group Company
Computer Trade Total Computer Trade Total
Software Secrets Software Secrets
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Cost
Al 2 Apnil 2006 2,717 - 2,717 2,717 - 2,117
Additions -acquired 109 . 109 109 - 108
Additions - internzlly generated 145 - 145 145 - 145
At 31 March 2007 2,97 - 2971 2,97 - 2,971
Aggregate amortisation
AL 2 Apnl 2006 1,401 - 1,40t 1,401 - 1,401
Charge for period 219 - 219 219 - 219
At 31 March 2007 1,620 - 1,620 1,620 - 1.620
Net bock value at 31 March 2007 1,351 - 1,351 1,351 - 1,351

The computer software capitalised principally relates to the ongoing development of the Group's Enterprise Resource Planning and
Financial sysiems The remaining amortisation penod of the assets at the period end 15 7 years (2007 8 years)

The trade secrets relaie to certain recipes and know how acquired within the TFP dwision The remaining amortisation penod of the assets
at the period endss 10 years
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

9 Property plant and equipment

Group Freehold land Plant &

& builldings machinery Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
Brought forward at 31 March 2007 10,144 65,427 75,571
Additions at cost 18 1,901 1,920
Disposals (83) {484) 577
At 29 March 2008 10,070 66,844 76914
Accumulated Depreciaion
Brought forward at 31 March 2007 4,203 49,851 54,054
Charge for penod 270 2,767 3,037
Disposals - {485) (485)
At 29 March 2008 4,473 52,133 56,606
Net book value at 29 March 2008 5,597 14,711 20,308
Freehold land Plant &
& bulldings machinery ‘Total
£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
Brought forward at 2 Apri 2006 10068 66 028 76,096
Additions at cost 100 2,402 2.502
Disposals (24) (3.003) (3.027)
At 31 March 2007 10,144 65,427 75,571
Accumulated Depreciation
Brought forward at 2 April 2006 3,940 48,393 52333
Charge for penod 287 2,809 3,096
Disposals (24) {1,351) (1.375)
At 31 March 2007 4,203 49,851 54,054
Net book value at 31 March 2007 5,941 15,576 21,517
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9 Property plant and equipment

Company Freehold land Plant &
& buildings machinery Total
£000 £'000 £'000
Cost
Brought forward at 31 March 2007 927 2,107 3,034
Additions at cost 19 114 133
Disposals (83) (225) (318)
At 29 March 2008 853 1,996 2,848
Accumulated Depreciation
Brought forward at 31 March 2007 257 1,697 1.954
Charge for penod 1 186 197
Disposals - (225} (225)
At 29 March 2008 268 1658 1,926
Net book value at 29 March 2008 585 338 923
Freehold land Plant &
& buildings machinery Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
Brought forward at 2 Apnl 2006 95 2117 3,068
Additions at cost - - -
Disposals (24) {10) (34}
At 31 March 2007 927 2,107 3,034
Accumulated Depreciation
Brought forward at 2 Apnl 2006 243 1,530 1,773
Charge for perod 38 167 205
Disposals (24) . (24)
At 31 March 2007 257 1,697 1,954
Net book value at 31 March 2007 670 410 1,080
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10 Investments

{1) Investments 1n subsidiary undertakings

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Al 29 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 - - 7.350 7350

Irvestments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost A list of principal subsidiary undertakings 1s given befow

Country of

incorporation % holding Nature of business
James Cropper Speciality Papers Limited England 100 Manufacture of coloured paper and boards
The Paper Mill Shop Company Limited England 100 Retailing of paper
James Cropper Converting Limited England 100 Paper converter
Technical Fibre Products Limited England 100 Manufacture of hugh performance
wet-laid nonwovens from fibres
Tech Fibers Inc USA 100 Halding Company
Technical Fiber Products Inc USA 100 Sales and marketing organisation
Metal Coated Fibers Inc USA 100 Manufacturer of metal coated carbon fibres
Electro Fiber Technologies LLC USA 100 Manufacturer of metal coated fibres
Melmore Limited England 100 Dormant company
Papermilldirect com Limited England 100 Dormant company
James Crepper EBT Limited England 100 Trustee of an employee benefit trust

(i) Investments in Joint ventures

Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 March 2007 58 77 - -
Investment In year 50 87 - -
Share of loss In year 61) 95) - -
Exchange adjustments - {11) . R
Transfer to investment in subsidiary (47) - - -
At 29 March 2008 - 58 - -

The nvestment in joint ventures related to the Group’s 50% shareholding in Electro Fiber Technologtes Inc , a company based in the USA,
and now a 100% subsidiary of Tech Fibers Inc

The aggregate amounts included in the financial statements relating {o the Group's share of joint ventures are

Group
2008 2007
£000 £'000
Gross assets - 73
Gross habiities - {15)
- 58
11 inventories
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Materials 5,005 3,961 - -
Work in progress 1,691 1,674 - -
Firmished goods 2,944 2,731 - -
9,640 8,366 - -

Inventones are stated after a provision for impairment of £152,000 (2007 £121,000)
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12 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Trade debtors 13,280 13,554 -
Less Prowvision for mpairment of recevables {69) (67) -
Trade debtors -net 13,211 13,487 -
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 27.886 26,062
Gther debtors 177 140 76 114
Prepayments 708 835 275 324
14,096 14,462 28,237 26,500

Management believe there 15 no further credit nsk provision required in excess of normal provision for doubtful receivables The adoption

of IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments  Disclosure” has resulted in addittonal disclosures on credit nsk which can be viewed n note 16

13 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cash at bank and in hand 1,917 3,730 422
14 Trade and other payables
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£000 £000 £'000 £'000
Trade payables 1,700 1,813 1,195 1,081
Amounts owed to group undertakings . - 96 -
Other tax and social security payable 788 1.164 4395 852
Other creditors 86 169 82 149
Accruals 5,550 5,398 897 1,001 |
8,124 8,544 2,785 3.173 |
|
15 Borrowings
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Current
Bank loans and overdrafts due within one year or on demand
Unsecured 2170 2,374 5,986 2,374
Non-current
Bank loans
Unsecured 5,763 6,650 4504 6,650

Bank loans are denorminated in Sterling and bear interest at rates between 1% and 1 5% above UK bank base rates
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16 Financial instruments

Numerical financial instruments disclosures are set out below and the adoption of IFRS 7 has resulted n additional cisclosures as shown
Current year information has bean provided, and 1t is the company's intention to disclose current year and prior year figures gong forward
Addrtional disclosures are set out in the accounting poliies relating to risk management

Group and Company At 29 March 2008 At 31 March 2007
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabiities
£'000 £'000 £000 £°000
Interest rate caps - - 4 -

Forward foreign currency contracls - - - -
- - 4 -

In accordance with 1AS 39, “Financial instruments Recognition and measurement”, James Cropper PLC has reviewed all coniracts for
embedded derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet certain requirements set out in the standard
Na such embedded denvatives were identified from this review

There are no outstanding financial instruments that are designated as hedges at the Balance Sheet date
Fair values of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities

Where market values are not avallable, farr values of financial assets and financal lrabilities have been calculated by discounting expected
future cash flows at prevailing interest rates and by applying year-end exchange rates The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings
approximate to book value

Fair value of non-current borrowings

Group Group
2008 2007
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Long ferm borrowings 15 5,763 5,763 6,650 6,650
Fair value of other financial assets and financial habilities
Shert term borrowings 15 2,170 2170 2,374 2374
Trade and other payables 14 8,124 8,124 8,544 8,544
Trade and other recewvables 12 14,096 14,096 14,462 14,462
Cash at bank and in hand 13 1,917 1,917 3,730 3,730

The far values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on borrowings of 6 5% (2007 6 5%} The farr value of long-term
borrowings approximates to the carrying value reported in the Balance Sheet as these are fioating rates where payments are reset to
market rates at intervals of less than one year, and the current rate is below the Group's interest rate cap

Maturity of financial habilities
The matunity profile of the carrying amount of the Group's non-current inancial labiliies, at 29 March 2008, was as follows

Group Group

2008 2007

Other Other

financiat financial
Debt itabilities Total Debt llabifities Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
In more than one year but not more than two years 2,182 - 2,182 2,182 - 2,182
In more than two years but not more than five years 3,510 - 3,510 4,111 - 4,111
In more than five years 71 - 71 357 - 357
5,763 - 5,763 6,650 - 6,650
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interest rate risk

As part of the Group's interest rate management strategy, the Company entered into two interest rate caps for total consideration of
£27,000, the first matured in September 2007 and the second one will mature in September 2008  Under the remaining interest rate cap
the maxmum LIBOR interest rate the group will pay on bank borrowings of up to £5 million 1s 6%

The effective Interest rates at the Balance Sheet date were as follows

Group
2008 2007
% %
Bank overdraft 63 63
Bank borrowings 65 65

Liquidity risk

The Group's palicy 1s to mantain a mix of short, medium and long-term barrowings with a number of banks  Short-term flexibiity 1s
achieved through overdraft facilities It 1s, m addition, the Group's policy to mantain undrawn committed borrowing faciliies 1n order ta
provide flexitility in the management of iguidity

Borrowing facilities

The Group has the tollowing undrawn committed borrowing faciiies avallable at 29 March 2008 in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met at that date

2008 2007

Floating rate Fixed rate Total Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expiring within one year 3,453 - 3,453 3,456

The faciliies expinng within cne year are annual faciliies subject 1o review at vanous dates during 2008/09 Al these facilities incur
commitment fees at market rates

The following are the contractual matunies on tinancial habiites as at 29 March 2008

Trade Payables - carrying amount Not Past due Past due Past due Total
past 0to 30 31 to 60 61 days contractual

due days days and over  cash flows

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Group {1.529) (120) 97) 46 (1,700
Company (1,222) (1) (58) 86 {1,195)

Currency nsk

The majority of exports into continental Europe are mvoiced in €s €s are used to purchase € priced pulp and other raw matenals sourced
from Europe in €s Similarly, export sales outside Eurcpe are invoiced in US$ and the receipts fund the purchase of US$ priced pulp
These steps reduce exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations The situation 1s monitored to ensure that whenever possible currency
recelpts and payments are matched The following table illusirates the Group's currency management process (n practice comparnng the
opening and closing exchange rates for the financial year

uss €
Opening rate Apnl 2007 v £ 192 147
Closing rate March 2008 v £ 199 126
Exchange raie movement % (3 14
Strengthen/(Weaken) v £
Currency transactions in year
Sales receipls '000 19,120 17,026
Purchase payments 000 (21,350} (16,172)
Net currency surplus/(deficit) '000 {2,230} 854
£ @ Opening rate £000 {1,158} 583
£ @ Closing rate £000 (1,123} 680
£ sterling gain £000 35 97

Potential foreign currency surpluses or deficits are dealt with by a combination of foresgn currency forward selling and forward purchasing
contracts
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16 Financial instruments (continued)

Dunng the year a loan of US$2,500,000 (£1,252,000 at year end) was drawn down Dy TFP to counter-balance the value of TFP's net assets
denominated in US$s, thus creating a cumengy hedge on TFP's Balance Sheet As at the Balance Sheet date on 28 March 2008 the
Group's exposure to foreign currency nisk was as follows

usD Euro GBP Total
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

Trade recevables 12 1,662 2,355 9,194 13211
Cash and cash equivalents 13 375 1,565 (23) 1917
Trade payables 14 92 (176) (1.616) (1,700)
Unsecured current loans 15 - - (2,170) (2,170)
Unsecured non-current loans 15 (1,259) (4,504) (5,763)
Net exposure 870 3.744 381 5,495
Rates 2008 29 March 2008

Average rate Reporting date
Euro 14174 12563
US Dollar 20085 19855

Sensitivity analysis

A one percent strengthening of the pouind against the Eure and the US Dollar at 29 March 2008 would have decreased equity and profit by
the amounts shown below This analysis assumes that all other vanables, in particular interest rates, remain constant

Equity Profit

£'000 £'000

23 March 2008 uso (9) 17
29 March 2008 Euro (37) (22)

A one percent weakening of the pound against the Euro and the US Dollar at 29 March 2008 would have had an equal and opposite effect
on the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other vanables remain constant

Credit nsk
Surplus funds are invested on the money markets and are reviewed on a daily basis

The Group's credit sk 1s primarily atinbutable to trade recevables The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate Credit
checks on potential customers before sales commence for some of its businesses  In addiion, Technical Fibre Products Ltd and James
Cropper Speciaity Papers Limited operate credit insurance Trade recevables are included in the Balance Sheet net of doubtiul
recevables estimated by the Group's management based on prior expenence At the Balance Sheet date the directors consider there to
be no sigrificant credit risk

The ageng of trade receivables at the reporting cate was

Not Past due Past due Past due
past 01030 31to 60 61 days
due days days and cver Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Trade Recewvables 12,800 224 ) 53 203 13,280
tmpairment - - - (69) (69)
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17 Retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of pension schemes Two of these schemes the James Cropper PLC Works Pension Plan (“Works
Scheme”) and the James Cropper PLC Pension Scheme (“Staff Scheme”) are funded schemes of the defined benefit type  The Group
also operates a defined contnbution scheme and makes coninbutions to persenal pension plans for its employees In the USA

Pension costs for the defined coninbution scheme and the personal pension coniributions are as {ollows

Group
2008 2007
£'000 £000
Defined contribution schemes 183 139
Personal pens:on contributions 16 9

Other pension costs totalied £148,000 (2007 £144,000) and represent lifa assurance charges and gavernment pension protection fund
levies

Defined benefit plans

The most recent actuanal valuations of the Stalf Scheme and the Works Scheme have been updated to 29 March 2008 by quatfied
independent actuanes The major assumptions used by the actuary for each scheme were as noted below The expecied return on plan
assets 1s calculated by using a weighted average across each category of asset

Staff Scheme Works Scheme
2008 2007 2008 2007
% % % %
Rate of increase in pensionable salares 48 42 48 42
Rate of Increase of pensions in payment and deferred 39 3z 39 32
Discount rate 66 54 66 54
Inflation assumption 38 32 38 32
Expected return on plan assets 68 63 74 64

In respect of montality the PAG2 senies table has been used with the medium cohort prajections applied, and a plus three year age rating
adjustment to the Works members, and no age rating for the Staff members  This represents a tonger assumed life expectancy than
assumed n the 31 March 2007 disclosures The different age ratings applied to each Scheme reflect the different charactenstics of the
members within these Schemes

The amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are determined as follows

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
£'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Present value of scheme liabilities (60,335) (66,733) (66,007) (55,4386) (51,855)
Fair value of plan assets 58,531 60,581 55,692 44,729 38,080
Net hiability recogrused in the Balance Sheet (1,804) (6,152) (10.315) 10 707 13,775

The far vatue of the plan assets comprises the following categones of asset in the stated proportions

Staft Scheme Works Scheme

2008 2007 2008 2007

% % % %

Equities 55 58 66 68

Bonds 36 32 28 28
Property - - -

Cash 2 3 5 3

Annuities 7 6 1 -

The pension plan assets include invesiments in the shares of the Company with a farr value of £249,000 (2007 £418,000)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

17 Retirement benefits {continued)

Defined benefit plans (conunued)

The amounts recognised in the Profit and Loss Account are as follows

2008 2007

£'000 £'000
Current service cost 1,644 1,598
Total included within employee benefit costs 1,544 1598
Expected return on plan assets (3,818) (3,492)
Interest on pension scheme labilities 3,591 3,313
Total included within Interesi {227) (179)
Total 1,317 1,419
Analysis of the movement in the Balance Sheet hability

2008 2007

£'000 £'000
At 31 March 2007 (6,152 {10,315)
Total expense as above (1.317) (1,419)
Contributions paid 1,810 1.826
Actuanal gains/(losses) recognised in SORIE 3,855 3,756
At 29 March 2008 (1,804) (6,152)

The actual return on plan assets was negative (£1,962,000) (2007 positive £4,255,000) The Company expects (o pay £899,000 (2007
£935,000} in contributions to the Staff Scheme and £977,000 (2007 £946,000) in contributicns to the Works Scheme in the next financial
pericd

The cumulatve amount of gainsfiosses recognised i the SORIE since the adoption of 1AS 19 1s gains of £9,788 000 (2007 gains of
£5,933,000)

Analysis of the movement in the defined benefit obligation (DBO) and scheme assets

Works Scheme Staff Scheme

Assets DBO Assets DBO

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 31 March 2007 30,561 (35,430) 30,020 (31,303)

Expected return on asseis 1,945 - 1,873 -

Current service cosls - (1,061) - (483)

Benefits paid {1,183} 1,183 (1,397 1,397

Contributions by plan partcipants 406 (4086) 276 {276)

Employer contrbutions 943 - 867 -

Interest cost - {1,918) - (1,673)

Actuanal {losses)/gains {3,163) 6,330 (2 617) 3,305

At 29 March 2008 29,509 (31,302) 29,022 (28,033)
Experience adjustments

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

£'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000

Anging on plan assets (5,780) 763 6786 2253 5.035

Percentage of schemie assets (9 9%) 13% 122% 5 0% 13 0%

Ansing on plan habiities 3,201 (204) 1,983 (32) (1,458)

Percentage of scheme habilties 55% 03% 30% 0D1% (3 0%)
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18 Deferred taxation

The movement on the deferred tax account 1s shown below

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 March 2007 {2,095) {863) 1,262 2,537
Deferred tax on actuanal gains on retiremernt habilities (1,157} (1,127) (1,157) (1,127)
Profit and loss charge (261) {105) (85) (148)
Rate change 220 . (1) -
Other 2 - - -
At 29 March 2008 (3,291) (2.095) 19 1,262

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all temporary differences giving nise to deferred tax assets because 1t 1s probable

that these assets will be recovered

No deferred tax 1s recogrised on the un-remitted earnings of overseas subsichanes and joint ventures  As the earnings are continually
reinvested by the group, no tax 1s expected to be payable on them in the foreseeable future  The combined distributable reserves of

Tech Fibers Inc and its subsidiaries are in deficit by £17,000

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period are shown below

Deferred tax hahilities

Group Accelerated Other Tota!
capital
allowances
£'000 £000 £000
At 31 March 2007 {3,760} (181) (3,941)
Profit and loss charge {25) 88) {11%)
Rate change 252 4 266
At 29 March 2008 (3,533) (263} (3,796)
Deferred tax assets Accelerated Pension Total
capital
allowances
£'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 March 2007 - 1,846 1,846
Deferred tax on actuaral gains on retirement liabilities - (1,157) {1157)
Rate change - (38) (36)
Deferred tax on difference between contribution paid and net pension cost - (148) {148)
charged 1o the Profit and Loss Account
At 29 March 2008 - 505 505
Total
£'000
Net deferred tax llab:lity {3,291)

Dunng the year, as a result of the change in the UK Corporation Tax rate from 30% to 28%, which will be effective from 1 Apnl 2008,
deferred tax balances have been re-measured Deferred tax expected to reverse in the year to 31 March 2009 has been measured using

the effective rate for the penod (28%) This has resulted in a credit to the Profit and Loss Account of £220,000

[t 1s anticipated that the proposed phasing out of industnal bulldings allowances will become law dunng the 2008/09 accounting penod of
the Group it15 estmated that the effect of this change will be a release of approxirmately £587,000 of the deferred tax prowvision of the

Group
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

19 Called up equity share capital

Group and Company

2008 2007
Authonsed £'000 £'000
10,000,000 (2007 10,000,000) ordinary shares of 25p each 2,500 2,500
Issued and fully paid
Number ot £'000
Qrdinary shares
At 31 March 2007 8,472,368 2,118
Issued during the penod -
At 29 March 2008 8 472,368 2,118

Potental 1ssue of ordinary shares
Under the James Cropper PLC Executive Share Option Scheme, options were outstanding al 29 March 2008 in respect of the following

Year of grant Exercise price Exercise penod 2008 2007
P) Number Number

1998 2027 August 2001 to August 2008 42,565 42,565
1999 2059 December 2002 ta December 2009 18,900 18,900
2000 2615 August 2003 to August 2010 60 000 60 000
2001 2085 June 2004 to June 2011 90,000 90,000
2213 211,465 211,465

There were no share options exercised m the penod and iherefore there were no gains made by directors on the exercise of share oplions

For share options outstanding at the end of the penod, the range of exercise prices was 202 7p 1c 261 5p, and the weighted average
contractual life was 7 years

Under the Group's long-term incentive plan for executive directors and senior executives, such indviduals hold nghts over ordinary shares
that may result in the 1ssue of up to 81,000 25p ardinary shares oy 2011

Share based payments

The Save As You Earn (SAYE) schemes were introduced in Decemiber 2003, and August 2007 respectively and each run for either a three
or five year period

Options were valued using a Black-Scholes option pricing model The far value per option and assumptions used in the calculation are as
follows

December 03 August 07 August 07

5 year 3 year 5 year

scheme scheme scheme

Farr value per option 46p 62p 69p
Date of grant 18 December 03 21 August 07 21 August 07
Exercise Price 130 5p i91p 191p
Market Price at date of grant 156p 235p 235p
Volatility 32 5% 22% 22%
Net dividend yield 4% 3% 3%
Term of option 525 years 3 25 years 525 years
Risk free rate of interest 4 6% 52% 52%

Durning the penod no oplions were exercised (2007 113,254 options were exercised)
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20 Reserves, shareholders's funds and changes in shareholders' equity

Group Share Share  Translation Other Retained Total
capital premiurm reserve reserve earnings
£'000 £000 £000 £000 £:000 £'000
At 31 March 2007 2,118 573 8 - 19870 22,653
Profit for the penod - - - . 1,190 1,190
Exchange differences - - 36 - 9) 21
Dwmidends pard - - . . (618) (618)
Share based payment charge - - - - 85 85
Actuanat gans on retirement benefit habilities
{net of deferred tax) - - - - 2,698 2,698
Consideration paid for own shares - - - - (368) {368)
Proceeds from shares issued - - - - - -
At 29 March 2008 2,118 573 22 - 22,948 25,661
Share Share Translation Other Retained Total
capnal premum reserve reserve eanmngs
£'000 £'000 €000 £000 £:000 £'000
At 2 April 2006 2,090 454 10 61 16,244 18,859
Profit for the penod 1,361 1,361
Exchange differences - - (18) . (18)
Dividends paid - - - {343) (343)
Share based payment charge . - - 18 18
Actuanal gains on retrement benefit labilites
{net of deferred tax) - - - . 2,629 2,629
Transfer from other reserve - - - (61) 61 -
Proceeds from shares 1ssued 28 119 - - - 147
At 31 March 2007 2,118 573 (8) - 19,970 22,653
Company Share Share Translation Other Retamned Total
capital premivm reserve reserve garnings
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
At 31 March 2007 2,118 573 - - 16,996 19,687
Profit for the penod - - - - 951 951
Exchange differences - - - - - -
Dmdends paid - - - - (618) (618)
Share based payment charge - - - - a5 85
Actuarial gains on retirement benefit habilities
{net of deferred tax) - - - - 2,698 2,608
Proceeds from shares 1ssued - - - - - -
At 29 March 2008 2,118 573 - - 20,112 22,803
Share Share Translation Cther Retained Total
capital presmium reserve reserve earnings
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
At 2 Apnl 2006 2,090 454 - 14 14,576 17,134
Profit for the penod - - - - 102 102
Exchange differences - - - - - -
Dividends pad - - - - (343) (343)
Share based payment charge - - - - 18 18
Actuanal gans on retrement benefit kabilibies
(net of deferred tax) - - - - 2,629 2,623
Transfer from other reserve - - - (14) 14 -
Proceeds from shares 1ssued 28 119 - - - 147
At 31 March 2007 2118 573 - - 16,996 18,687

As permitted by Section 230(1) of the Companies Act 1885 the Company has not presented its own Profit and Loss Account
The Company’s profit for the financial period 1s disclosed above
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

21 Cash flow from operating activities

Reconciliation of net profit 1o net cash generated from operating activites

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
Continuing operations £'000 £'000 £'060 £°000
Net Profit 1,190 1,361 951 102
Adjustments for
Tax 390 746 95 23
Depreciation 3,280 3,315 428 424
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment {103) {39) (92) -
Bank interest ncome & expense 402 438 (1 081) (1,024)
Share of results of joint venture before taxation 81 95 - -
Share Based Paymenis 85 17 85 17
Dividends recewved from Subsidiary Companies - - {1,600) (850)
Net IFRS Pension Adjustments 383 431 383 431
Past Service Deficit Payments (876) (838) {876) (838)
Changes in working capttal
Decrease / (Increase} in inventores {1,274) {99) - -
Decrease / (Increase) in trade and other receivables 383 (1,100) {1,621} 2,304
{Decrease) / Increase in trade and other payables (478} 806 (480) (1,367)
Cash generated from /{used by) continuing operations 3,443 5,133 (3.808) {824)
22 Employees and directors
Staff costs for the Group during the perlod
2008 2007
£'000 £'000
Wages and salanes 15,377 14,422
Social Security cosls 1,367 1,244
Pension costs 1,891 1,890
18,635 17 556
Own labour capitalised (350) (287)
18,285 17,269
The average monthly number of pecple {including executive directors) employed 1n the Group was 626 (2007 605)
The average manthly number of people (including executive directors) employed in the Company was 54 (2007 57)
Key management compensation
2008 2007
£000 £'000
Salanes and short term benefits 954 8G0
Post-employment benefits 111 1
Shared hased payments 54 1
1,119 912
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23 Commitments under operating leases

2008 2007

Group Property Plant & Property Plant &
machinery machinery
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring
Within one year 17 - - 2
Later than one year and less than five years 1,013 2,101 1,257 568
After five years 3,897 4,545 1,820
4,927 2,101 5,802 2,391

2008 2007

Company Property Plant & Property Plant &
machimery machtnery
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring
Later than one year and less than five years - 502 - 438
- 502 - 438

Centingent rent payments are determined on the basis of turncver

24 Capital commitments
Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not 287 557 8 14

provided Iin the financial statements

25 Contingent liabilities

There were no contingent labilites at the penod end The Company 1s included In a cross guarantee between itself and s subsidiaries
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

26 Related party transactions

Group
The Group has taken advantage of the exemption not 10 disclose intra-group transactions that are eltminated on consolidaiion
The Group also has the following transactions with related parties that are not eliminated on consolidation

2008
Sales Purchases Recevable Payable
£'000 £°000 £'000 £'000
Electro Fier Technologies Inc - 20 -
2007
Sales Purchases Recewable Payable
£'000 £'000 £°000 £°000
Electro Fiber Technologies Inc - 105 - 5
Company

The Company pays £35 000 (2007 £35,000} annually to Mr J A Crapper for the use of reservarrs 1o supply water to the faclory premises

The contract 1S based on a twenly year repanng lease with rent reviews every five years  The rent 1s negotiated through independent
advisers representing each party

The Company also has the following transactions with related entities

2008

Sales Management Receivable / Loans and net

charges {Payable) itercompany funding

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Jarnes Cropper Specialty Papers Limited 30,361 3127 635 16,000
The Paper Mill Shop Company Limited 23 89 (65) -
James Cropper Converting Limited 8,209 539 768 6,000
Technical Fibre Products Lirmited 511 606 (31) 4,115
James Cropper EBT Limited - - - 368
39,104 4,361 1,307 26,483

2007

Sales Management Receivable / Loans and net

charges {Payable) intercompany funding

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

James Cropper Speciality Papers Limited 45,161 3,829 858 16,000
The Paper Mill Shop Campany Limited 53 133 49 -
James Cropper Converting Limited 13,387 589 34 6,000
Techrical Fibre Products Limited 339 606 121 3,000
58,940 5,157 1,062 25,000
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2007 - 2008 Shareholder Information

Reporting

Interm Results announced and sent to

Ordinary Shareholders 20 November 2007
Final results announced 24 June 2008
Annual Report 1ssued by 7 July 2008

Annual General Megeting - at Bryce Institute, Burneside,
Kendal, Wednesday 30 July 2008 at 10 30am

Dividends on Ordinary Shares
Intenm diwdend paid on 11 January 2008 to Ordinary Shareholders registered on 21 December 2007

Final dividend to be paid on 15 August 2008 to Ordinary Shareholders registered on 18 July 2008

Registrars

Capita Registrars Limited
Northern House
Woodsome Park

Fenay Bridge
Huddersteld

HD8 0LA

Tel 01484 600900

Fax 01484 600911
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice 1s hereby given thai the one hundred and nineteenth annual
general meeung of James Cropper PL.C {the “Company”) will be
he!d at the Bryce Institute, Burneside, Kendal, Cumbna at 10 30am
on Wednesday 30 July 2008 1o consider and, if thought iit, pass the
following resolutions, of which resotutions 10 11 and 12 are io be
proposed as special resolutions of the Company -

1

To recenve and consider the statement of accounts and
reports of the directors and the auditors for the 52 weeks
ended 29 March 2008

(b} otherwise than pursuant to paragraph (g} of this
resolution, the allotment of equity securties up 1o an
aggregale norminal amount of £105,905 and shall expire
on the concluston of the next Annual Generat Meeting of
the Company after the passing of this resolution of 15
months from the date of this resolution (whichever 15
earhier) except that the Company may before such expiry
make an offer or agreement which would or might require
equity secunties to be allotted afler such expiry and the
cirectors may allot equity secunities N pursuance of any

2  Todeclare afinal dvidend such offes or agreement as 1f the power conferred by this
3 Tore-elect MrJA Cropper as a director of the Company resolution had not expired
4 Tore-slect MrJM Denman as a director of the Cormpany 12 That the Company be generally and unconditionally
T lect MrN A R d fthe C authonsed jor the purposes of section 166 of the Companies
5 Tore-electMr ead as a director of the Company Act 1885 (the "Act”) 1o make market purchases (wilhin the
6 Tore-elect Mr PL Herring as a director of the Compan meaning of section 163(3) of the Act) on the London Stock
y g
7 To re-appount KPMG Audit Pic as auditors of the Company to Exchange of ordinary shares of 25p each in the capital of the
hold office from the conclusian of the meeting untl the next Company provided that -
Annual General Meeting 12 1 the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares hereby
8 To authonse the directors to agree the remuneration of the authorised to be purchased 1s 1,270,855,
auditors of the Company 12 2 the minimum price which may be paid for such shares 1s 25p
9 To consider ang approve the Directors' Remunaratian Report per ordinary share,
for the 52 weeks ended 29 March 2008 12 3 the maximum price which may be paid for such ordinary
10 That the directors be authonised for the purpose of section 80 shares shall nol be more than 5% abave the average of the
of the Companies Act 1985 {the “Act™) 10 allot relevant market values 1olr a ordinary share as derived from the London
secuniies (within the meaning af sectiors 80(2) of the Act) up Stock Exchange's Daily Cfficiat List for the five business days
to an aggregaie nominal amount of £381,908 provided that - immediately preceding the date on which the crdinary shares
' are purchased,
a) except as provided in paragraph (b} below this authon
@ shallpexplrs at the congumgn gf the next Annual Gener[s?\[l 12 4 unless previously renewed, vaned or revoked, the authority
Meeting of the Company atter the passing of this hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the
resolution or 15 months from the date of this rasolution (%ompany fs r‘;‘e“ Annual Gi:f:"’ E: Meeting °|f 15 moglhs from
fwhichever 1s the eartier} but may be previously revoked the cate of this resolution (whichever i earlier) an
or varied by an ordinary resolution of the Cempany, and 12 5 the Company may make a contract or coniracts to purchase
{b) the Company may before such expiry make an aifer or ordinary shares under the authority conferred by this resolution
agreement which would or might require relevant prior to the expiry of such authonty which will or may be
secunities to be allotted after such expiry and the executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authonty and
directors may aliol relevant secunties in pursuance of mayhmake a purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance of any
such offer or agreement notwithstancing that the such contract or contracis
authority conterred by this resolution has expired
11 That subject to the passing of and pursuan to the general By order of the Board
authority conferred by the resolution numbered 10 in the
notice convening this meeting the drectors be empowered
purstant to Section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 (the "Act”)
10 allot equity securities (as defined in section 94 of the Act) or
where the equity secunbies are held by the Company as DRC
qualifying shares {to which sections 162A to 162 G of the Act ey
apply}, In each case as if section 89(1) of the Act did not apply ~ Secretary
:g any such aflotment, provided that this power shall be lmite. g July 2008
(a) the allotment of equity securities in connection with any
nghts or other pre-emptive 1ssue in favour of the ordinary ~ Registered ofiice -
shareholders where the equity secunties respectively Burneside Mills
attributable to the interests of all ordinary shareholders Kendal
are propoitionale (as nearly as may be) to the respecive  enoa
number of orchnary shares held by them on a fixed Cumbria
record date (but subject to such exclusions or other LAS 6P7
arangements as the direciors may deem necessary or
expedient in relaton {0 fractional entitlements or any legal
or practical prablems under the laws of any territory or Registered in England and Wales No 30226
the requirements of any regulatory body or stock
exchange in any territary or any other matter
whatsoever), and
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Notes

The fcllowing notes explain your general nghts as a shareholder
and your nght to attend and vote ai this meetng or to appoint
someone else to vote on your behalf

1

Only those members registered in the Register of Members of
the Company as at 10 30am ¢n 28 July 2008 shall be entitled
to atiend and vote at the meeting convened above in respect
of the number of shares registered n thewr names at that ime

A member entitted to attend and vote at the meeting
convened by the above notice 1s entitled to appont another
person as his proxy to exercise all or any of his nghts to attend
and to speak and vote at a meetng of the Company Any
such member may appomnt more than one proxy provided that
each proxy 1s apponted (o exercise the nights attached to a
different share or shares held by such member You may not
appoint more than one proxy to exercise nghts attached to
any one share To appoint more than one proxy, please
phatocopy the form of proxy and indicate in the box next to
the proxy's name the number of shares in relation to which
they are authonised to act as your praxy Please also indicate
by ticking the box provided if the proxy instruction s one of
muliiple nstructions being given All forms must be signed
and should be returned together in the same envelope A
proxy need not be a member of the Company Appoiniing a
proxy will not preévent a shareholder from attending in person
and vobng at the meetng If you wish your proxy to speak on
your behalf at the meeting you will need to appoint your own
choice of proxy {not the Charrman of the meeting) and give
your instructions directly to that person

A form of appointment of proxy 1s enclosed  You may register
your proxy appointment or voting duections electronically
through the website of the Company's Registrars and details
are set aut in the enclosed form of proxy I you retum mare
than one proxy appomtment, either by paper or by electronic
communication, that receved last by the registrar before the
latest tirne for the recetpt of proxies wilt take precedence

The form of proxy includes a vote withheld cption Please note
that a vote withheld 1s not a vote in law and will ot be counted
In the calculation of the proportion of votes for and against
any particular resolution

The appointment of a proxy and ihe onginal or duly certihied
copy of the power of attorney or other authonty (if any) under
which it 1s signed or authenticated should be deposited with
the Company s Registrars at the address shown on the proxy
form or receved via the website of the Company’s Registrars
not fater than 10 30am on 28 July 2008 or 48 hours before the
tme for holding any adjourned meeting

The above siatement as to proxy nghts does not apply io a
person who recenes this notice of general meating as a
person nominated 10 enjoy “information nghis” under section
146 oi the Companies Act 2006 if you have been sent this
notice of meeting because you are such a nominated person,
the following statements apply - (&) you may have a nght
under an agreement between you and the member of the
Company by whom you were nominated 1o be appointed or 1o
have someone else appointed as a proxy for this general
meeting, and (b) f you have no such nght or do not wish to
exercise It, you may have a nght under such an agreement to
give Instructions o that member as to the exercise of voung
aghts

7

10

As at 9 00am on the date of this notice the Company’s 1ssued
share capital comprised 8,472,368 ordinary shares of 25p
each Each ordinary share carries the nght to one vote at a
general meeting of the Company and, therefore, the total
number of voling ights in the Company as at 9 00am on the
date of thus notice 1S 8,472,368

Copies of the contracts of serice for directors are available
for inspection dunng normal business hours at the registered
office of the Company and they may be inspected at the place
of the Annual General Meeting for at least 15 minutes pror 10
the meeting and at the mesting

In order to facilitate voting by corporate representatives at the
meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the meeting so
that (1) if a corporate shareholder has appointed the charman
of the meeting as its coporate reprasentative to vote on a poll
In accordance with the directions of all of the others corporate
representatives for that shareholder at the meeting thenon a
polt those corporate representatives will give voting direction
to the chairman and the chairman will vote {or withhold a vote)
as corporate representative In accordance with those
directions, and {1} f more than one corporate representative
for the same corporate shareholder aitends the meeting but
the corporate shareholder has not appointed the charman of
the meeting as Its corporaie representative, a designated
corporate representative will be nominated, from those
corporate representatives who attend, who wilt vote on a poll
and the other corporate representaiives will give voting
directions to that designated corporate representative
Corporate shareholders are referred to the guidance 1ssued
by the Institute of Charntered Secretaries and Administratars on
proxies and corporate representatves (www icsa org uk} for
further details of this procedure The guidance includes a
sample form of appomntment letter if the chairman 1s being
appointed as descnbed in () above

The reasons for the proposal of Resolutions 3, 4, 5, 6, 10, 11
and 12 are set out in the Report of the Directors contained in
the Annual Report
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